SHARP QUANTITATIVE ESTIMATES OF STRUWE'S DECOMPOSITION

BIN DENG, LIMING SUN, AND JUN-CHENG WEI

ABSTRACT. In a seminal work, Struwe proved that if $0 \leq u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ and $\Gamma(u) := \|\Delta u + u^{\frac{n+2}{n-2}}\|_{H^{-1}} \to 0$ then $dist(u, \mathcal{T}) \to 0$, where \mathcal{T} denotes the manifold of sums of Aubin-Talenti bubbles and $dist(u, \mathcal{T})$ denotes the $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ -distance of u from \mathcal{T} . Ciraolo, Figalli and Maggi obtained the first quantitative version of Struwe's decomposition with one bubble in all dimensions, namely $dist(u, \mathcal{T}) \leq C\Gamma(u)$. For two or more bubbles, Figalli and Glaudo showed a striking dimensional dependent quantitative estimate, namely $dist(u, \mathcal{T}) \leq C\Gamma(u)$ when $3 \leq n \leq 5$ while this is false for $n \geq 6$. In this paper, we show

$$dist(u,\mathcal{T}) \le C \begin{cases} \Gamma(u) \left|\log \Gamma(u)\right|^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } n = 6, \\ |\Gamma(u)|^{\frac{n+2}{2(n-2)}} & \text{if } n \ge 7. \end{cases}$$

Furthermore, we show that this inequality is sharp.

CONTENTS

1. Introduction	2
1.1. Motivation and main results	2
1.2. Sketch of the proof	5
2. Proof of the main theorem	8
3. Setting up spaces and norms	13
4. Analysis of bubbles with weak interaction	21
4.1. Rough upper bound	21
4.2. Configuration of bubbles tree	28
5. Point-wise estimate for the main part of error function	32
5.1. A priori estimate	32
5.2. Existence and point-wise estimate	42
6. Gradient estimate of the error function	45
7. A sharp example	50
Acknowledgement	53
Appendix A. Some useful estimates	53
Appendix B. Integral estimates required in section 5	56
References	57

Date: January 3, 2024 (Last Typeset).

²⁰¹⁰ Mathematics Subject Classification. Primary 35A23, 26D10; Secondary 35B35, 35J20.

Key words and phrases. Sobolev inequality, stability, quantitative estimates, Struwe's decomposition, reduction method.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1. Motivation and main results. The Sobolev inequality with exponent 2 states that, for any $n \geq 3$ and any $u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) := D^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, the completion of $C_c^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ under the norm $\|\nabla u\|_{L^2}$, it holds that

$$S\|u\|_{L^{2^*}} \le \|\nabla u\|_{L^2},\tag{1.1}$$

where $2^* = \frac{2n}{n-2}$ and S = S(n) is a dimensional constant. It is well-known that the Euler-Lagrange equation of (1.1), up to scaling, is given by

$$\Delta u + |u|^{p-1}u = 0 \quad \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n.$$
(1.2)

Throughout this paper, we denote $p = \frac{n+2}{n-2}$. By Caffarelli et al. [10] and Gidas et al. [26], it is known that all the positive solutions are *Aubin-Talenti bubbles* [35], which are defined as

$$U[z,\lambda](x) := (n(n-2))^{\frac{n-2}{4}} \left(\frac{\lambda}{1+\lambda^2|x-z|^2}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}.$$
 (1.3)

Here and after, we shall call z the *center* and λ the *height* of the bubble $U[z, \lambda]$. These bubbles are all the minimizers of the Sobolev inequality, up to scaling. There are many advances in the study of the stability of (1.1). From the perspective of discrepancy in the Sobolev inequality, Bianchi and Egnell [6] gave a quantitative estimate near the minimizers, which is

$$\inf_{z \in \mathbb{R}^n, \lambda > 0, \alpha \in \mathbb{R}} \|\nabla (u - \alpha U[z, \lambda])\|_{L^2}^2 \le C(n) \left(\|\nabla u\|_{L^2}^2 - S^2 \|u\|_{L^{2^*}}^2\right).$$
(1.4)

A natural and more challenging perspective is through the Euler-Lagrange equation: whether a function u that almost solves (1.2) must be quantitatively close to Aubin-Talenti bubbles. There are many obstacles to addressing this question. First, (1.2) has many sign-changing solutions [18, 20]. Second, even if we restrict to the non-negative functions, u could be a sum of many weakly interacting Aubin-Talenti bubbles. In fact, a seminal work of Struwe [34] showed that this is always the case, at least for non-negative functions.

Theorem 1.1 (Struwe [34]). Let $n \ge 3$ and $\nu \ge 1$ be positive integers. Let $(u_k)_{k\in\mathbb{N}}\subseteq \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a sequence of non-negative functions such that $\left(\nu-\frac{1}{2}\right)S^n\leq 1$ $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u_k|^2 \leq (\nu + \frac{1}{2}) S^n$ with S = S(n) as in (1.1), and assume that

$$\left\|\Delta u_k + u_k^{2^*-1}\right\|_{H^{-1}} \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty.$$

Then there exist a sequence $(z_1^{(k)}, \ldots, z_{\nu}^{(k)})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of ν -tuples of points in \mathbb{R}^n and a sequence $(\lambda_1^{(k)}, \ldots, \lambda_{\nu}^{(k)})_{k \in \mathbb{N}}$ of ν -tuples of positive real numbers such that

$$\left\| \nabla \left(u_k - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U[z_i^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}] \right) \right\|_{L^2} \to 0 \quad \text{ as } k \to \infty.$$

One can also show that the family of $U[z_i^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}]$ are asymptotically orthogonal in $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ as $k \to \infty$ (see Brezis and Coron [9, p. 35]). More precisely, denoting $U_i^{(k)} = U[z_i^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}]$, by Lemma A.3, we have $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \nabla U_i^{(k)} \cdot \nabla U_j^{(k)} = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (U_i^{(k)})^p U_j^{(k)} \approx q_{ij}^{(k)} \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$, where $q_{ij}^{(k)} = q(z_i^{(k)}, z_j^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}, \lambda_j^{(k)})$ is defined as the following.

Definition 1.2 (Interaction of Aubin-Talenti bubbles). Let $U[z_i, \lambda_i]$ and $U[z_j, \lambda_j]$ be two bubbles. Define the interaction of them by

$$q(z_i, z_j, \lambda_i, \lambda_j) = \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j} + \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} + \lambda_i \lambda_j |z_i - z_j|^2\right)^{-\frac{n-2}{2}}.$$
 (1.5)

We shall denote $q_{ij} = q_{ji} = q(z_i, z_j, \lambda_i, \lambda_j)$. Let $\{U_i : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$ be a family of Aubin-Talenti bubbles. We say that the family is δ -interacting if

$$Q := \max\{q_{ij} : 1 \le i \ne j \le \nu\} \le \delta.$$

$$(1.6)$$

Despite the difficulty of the non-negativity issue, one can still investigate the problem locally. That is, if u is already near to a sum of weakly interacting Aubin-Talenti bubbles in \dot{H}^1 -norm, then $\|\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1}\|_{H^{-1}}$ should control the \dot{H}^1 -distance between u and \mathcal{T} . Here \mathcal{T} denotes the manifold of sums of Aubin-Talenti bubbles. Along this direction, Ciraolo et al. [13] obtained the first quantitative estimate $dist(u,\mathcal{T}) \leq C \|\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1}\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}}$ for all $n \geq 3$ when $\nu = 1$, i.e., when only one bubble is present. Later, Figalli and Glaudo [22] established the following theorem for any finite number of bubbles.

Theorem 1.3 (Figalli and Glaudo [22]). For any dimension $3 \le n \le 5$ and $\nu \in \mathbb{N}$, there exist a small constant $\delta = \delta(n, \nu) > 0$ and a large constant $C = C(n, \nu) > 0$ such that the following statement holds. Let $u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a function such that

$$\left\|\nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \nabla \tilde{U}_i\right\|_{L^2} \le \delta,$$

where $\{\tilde{U}_i : 1 \leq i \leq \nu\}$ is a δ -interacting family of Aubin-Talenti bubbles. Then there exist ν Aubin-Talenti bubbles $U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_{\nu}$ such that

$$\left\| \nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \nabla U_i \right\|_{L^2} \le C \left\| \Delta u + u |u|^{p-1} \right\|_{H^{-1}}.$$
 (1.7)

Furthermore, for any $i \neq j$, the interaction between the bubbles can be estimated as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_i^p U_j \le C \left\| \Delta u + u |u|^{p-1} \right\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

When $n \ge 6$ and $\nu > 1$, Figalli and Glaudo constructed some counterexamples that show that (1.7) is no longer true. They conjectured that one needs to modify the RHS of (1.7) to $\Gamma |\log \Gamma|$ when n = 6 and to $|\Gamma|^{\gamma}$ for some $\gamma < 1$ when $n \ge 7$, where $\Gamma = ||\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1}||_{H^{-1}}$. However, the exact value of γ is not known. On the other hand, it is well-known that dimension plays an important role in the analysis of (1.2). The Yamabe problem also has dimension 6 as a threshold, see Aubin [1], Schoen [32]. Prescribing scalar curvature problem has a similar analysis to bubbles, and there the dimension seems to play a more important role. For instance (not intended to be complete), one can see Li [27], Druet [21], Chang and Yang [12], Bahri and Coron [5], Ayed et al. [2], Malchiodi and Mayer [29], and the references therein.

In this paper, we give affirmative answers to both questions of Figalli and Glaudo. Throughout this paper, we define $\zeta_n(x)$ for x > 0 and $n \ge 6$ as the following

$$\zeta_n(x) = \begin{cases} x^{\frac{p}{2}} & \text{if } n \ge 7, \\ x |\log x|^{\frac{1}{2}} & \text{if } n = 6. \end{cases}$$
(1.8)

It is easy to see that $\zeta_n(x)$ is increasing near zero.

Theorem 1.4. Suppose $n \ge 6$. There exist a small constant $\delta = \delta(n, \nu) > 0$ and a large constant $C = C(n, \nu) > 0$ such that the following statement holds. Let $u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ be a function such that

$$\left\|\nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \nabla \tilde{U}_i\right\|_{L^2} \le \delta,\tag{1.9}$$

where $\{\tilde{U}_i : 1 \leq i \leq \nu\}$ is a δ -interacting family of Aubin-Talenti bubbles. Then there exist ν Aubin-Talenti bubbles $U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_{\nu}$ such that

$$\left\|\nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \nabla U_i\right\|_{L^2} \le C\zeta_n(\Gamma)$$
(1.10)

for $\Gamma = \|\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1}\|_{H^{-1}}$. Furthermore, for any $i \neq j$, the interaction between the bubbles can be estimated as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_i^p U_j \le C \left\| \Delta u + u | u |^{p-1} \right\|_{H^{-1}}.$$
(1.11)

Note that our theorem completely solves the remaining cases in higher dimensions $n \ge 6$. Moreover, we improve the conjecture of [22] when n = 6. After finding this intriguing power $\frac{p}{2}$, we went back to check the counterexamples in [22]. Their examples show that there exists $u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ when n = 7 and $\nu = 2$ such that

$$\inf_{\substack{z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \lambda_1, \lambda_2 > 0}} \left\| \nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^2 \nabla U_i \right\|_{L^2} \ge C \Gamma^{\frac{9}{10}}.$$

Notice the fact that $\frac{9}{10} = \frac{p}{2}$ when n = 7 exactly implies that (1.10) is sharp in this case. Indeed, we can prove that our result (1.10) is sharp for all $n \ge 6$.

Theorem 1.5. For sufficiently large R > 0, there exists some ρ such that if $u = U[-Re_1, 1] + U[Re_1, 1] + \rho$ where $e_1 = (1, 0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$, then

$$\inf_{\substack{z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \lambda_1, \lambda_2 > 0}} \left\| \nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^2 \nabla U[z_i, \lambda_i] \right\|_{L^2} \ge C\zeta_n(\Gamma)$$

for $\Gamma = \left\|\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1}\right\|_{H^{-1}}$.

As a consequence of Theorem 1.4, we obtain the following sharp quantitative estimates of Struwe's decomposition.

Corollary 1.6. Suppose $n \ge 6$. There exists a large constant $C = C(n, \nu) > 0$ such that the following statement holds. For any non-negative function $u \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ such that

$$\left(\nu - \frac{1}{2}\right)S^n \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla u|^2 \le \left(\nu + \frac{1}{2}\right)S^n,$$

then there exist ν Aubin-Talenti bubbles $U_1, U_2, \ldots, U_{\nu}$ such that

$$\left\|\nabla u - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \nabla U_i\right\|_{L^2} \le C\zeta_n(\Gamma)$$

for $\Gamma = \|\Delta u + u^p\|_{H^{-1}}$. Furthermore, for any $i \neq j$, the interaction between the bubbles can be estimated as

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_i^p U_j \le C \left\| \Delta u + u^p \right\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Finally, we remark that recently there has been a growing interest in understanding quantitative stability for functional and geometric inequalities, due to important applications to problems in the calculus of variations and PDEs. For extension of (1.4) to Sobolev inequality with general exponents we refer to Figalli and Neumayer [23], Figalli and Zhang [24], and the references therein. Stability results on Sobolev inequality can be used to obtain quantitative convergence rates for fast diffusion equations. We refer to Bonforte and Figalli [7], del Pino and Sáez [15], and the references therein. There is also rich literature on quantitative versions of the isoperimetric inequality and other geometric inequalities analogous to the Sobolev inequality. A nice description of the comparison between Sobolev inequality and isoperimetric inequality can be found in Figalli and Glaudo [22]. We refer to Brasco et al. [8], Cavalletti et al. [11], Delgadino et al. [19], Figalli and Glaudo [22], Fusco et al. [25], Maggi [28], and the references therein.

1.2. Sketch of the proof. We briefly explain the ideas of our proof. Throughout this paper, we shall write that $a \leq b$ (resp. $a \geq b$) if $a \leq Cb$ (resp. $Ca \geq b$) where C is a constant depending only on the dimension n and the number of bubbles ν . The constant C may change line by line. Also, we say that $a \approx b$ if $a \leq b$ and $a \geq b$. The integral \int always means $\int_{\mathbb{R}^n}$ unless specified. We always denote with o(1) any quantity that goes to 0 when δ goes to 0. The common notion o(Q) means o(Q)/Q goes to 0 when Q goes to 0.

Suppose u satisfies (1.9) with a family of δ -interacting bubbles. Consider the following minimization problem

$$dist(u,\mathcal{T}) := \inf_{\substack{z_1,\cdots,z_\nu \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \lambda_1,\cdots,\lambda_\nu > 0}} \left\| \nabla u - \nabla \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U\left[z_i, \lambda_i \right] \right) \right\|_{L^2}.$$

It is well-known that (for instance, see [4, Appendix A]) if δ is small enough then such an infimum is achieved by *the best approximation*

$$\sigma := \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U\left[z_i, \lambda_i\right]. \tag{1.12}$$

Let us denote $U_i := U[z_i, \lambda_i]$. Since the family $\{\tilde{U}_i : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$ is δ -interacting, then $\{U_i : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$ is δ' -interacting for some δ' that goes to 0 as δ goes to 0.

Let $\rho := u - \sigma$ be the difference between the original function and the best approximation. We call ρ the *error function*. Then ρ satisfies $\|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2} \leq \delta$ and the equation (cf. eq (2.4))

$$\Delta \rho + p \sigma^{p-1} \rho + \sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p + N_{\sigma}(\rho) + f = 0, \qquad (1.13)$$

where $N_{\sigma}(\rho) = (\sigma + \rho)|\sigma + \rho|^{p-1} - \sigma^p - p\sigma^{p-1}\rho$ and $f = -\Delta u - u|u|^{p-1}$. Moreover, ρ also satisfies the following orthogonal conditions

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \nabla \rho \cdot \nabla Z_i^a = 0 \text{ for any } 1 \le i \le \nu; \ 1 \le a \le n+1,$$
(1.14)

where Z_i^a are the (rescaled) derivatives of $U[z_i, \lambda_i]$ with respect to the *a*-th component of z_i and λ_i (cf. eq (2.1)).

The linearized operator of (1.13) is $\Delta + p\sigma^{p-1}$, which will have a non-trivial kernel when σ is the sum of a family of weakly interacting bubbles. The non-homogeneous term $\sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p$ is the main data that encodes the interaction of bubbles. The key idea of this paper is to obtain a precise behavior of the first approximation of ρ .

To illustrate the main idea, we start with the easiest case. Assume $U_i = U[z_i, 1]$ is a family of δ -interacting bubbles with the same height. Since δ is very small, the centers $z_i, i = 1, \dots, \nu$, are far from each other. Define $R = \min\{\frac{1}{2}|z_i - z_j| : i \neq j\}$ and then $Q \approx R^{2-n}$ from (1.6).

By some standard finite-dimensional reduction method (see for example [17, 37]), given a δ' -interacting family $\{U_i : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$, we can find a function ρ_0 (in an appropriate space) and a family of scalars (c_a^i) such that

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \rho_0 + (\sigma + \rho_0) |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} - \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} U_j^p = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a, \\ \int \nabla \rho_0 \cdot \nabla Z_i^a = 0, \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; \ a = 1, \cdots, n+1. \end{cases}$$
(1.15)

We obtained the following point-wise estimate of ρ_0 , which is the central part of the paper. Denote $\langle x \rangle = \sqrt{1+|x|^2}$. When the dimension $n \ge 7$, the point-wise estimate of ρ_0 is

$$|\rho_0(x)| \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \frac{R^{2-n}}{\langle x - z_j \rangle^2} \chi_{\{|x - z_j| \le R\}} + \frac{R^{-4}}{\langle x - z_j \rangle^{n-4}} \chi_{\{|x - z_j| > R\}}.$$
 (1.16)

Here χ_{Ω} is the characteristic function for a set Ω . When the dimension n = 6, the point-wise estimate of ρ_0 is

$$|\rho_0(x)| \lesssim \sum_{j=1}^{\nu} \frac{R^{-4}}{\langle x - z_j \rangle^2} \chi_{\{|x - z_j| \le R^2\}} + \frac{R^{-2}}{\langle x - z_j \rangle^3} \chi_{\{|x - z_j| > R^2\}}.$$
 (1.17)

Notice that ρ_0 is small but decays very slowly in the core of each bubble. Using these point-wise estimates, we multiply (1.15) by ρ_0 and integrate it to get

$$\|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2} \lesssim \begin{cases} R^{2-n} R^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \approx Q^{\frac{p}{2}}, & n \ge 7, \\ R^{-4} |\log R|^{\frac{1}{2}} \approx Q |\log Q|^{\frac{1}{2}}, & n = 6, \end{cases}$$
(1.18)

Here the dimension of the space plays an important role in the integration.

Now consider the remaining part of the error function $\rho_1 = \rho - \rho_0$. Then (1.13) and (1.15) imply that ρ_1 satisfies

$$\Delta \rho_1 + (\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1) |\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1|^{p-1} - (\sigma + \rho_0) |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} + \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^j U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a + f = 0.$$
(1.19)

Observe that the equation of ρ_1 no longer contains the interaction term $\sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p$. Therefore, ρ_1 should be bounded by a higher order term of Q. Indeed, Proposition 6.4 proves that $\|\nabla \rho_1\|_{L^2} \leq Q^2 + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$. Combining with the previous L^2 estimate of $\nabla \rho_0$, we get

$$\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} \le \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2} + \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + \zeta_n(Q).$$

On the other hand, we shall multiply (1.13) by some appropriate Z_k^{n+1} and integrate it to arrive (cf. Lemma 2.1)

$$Q \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + \left|\int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1}\right| + \int |\rho|^p |Z_k^{n+1}|.$$

To establish the above estimates, unlike [22], we did not use cut-off functions. Using the point-wise estimates (1.16) and (1.17) of ρ_0 , we can show that the last two terms are higher order terms in Q and then $Q \leq ||f||_{H^{-1}}$. Consequently, $||\nabla \rho||_{L^2} \leq \zeta_n(||f||_{H^{-1}})$. Thus one can establish Theorem 1.4 in this setting.

Things are much more complicated for a general family of bubbles $\{U[z_i, \lambda_i] : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$. We may have *bubbling towers* mixed with *bubbling clusters* (see the definition 3.1). This is one of the major difficulties we have to deal with. The proof of [37] only works for bubbling clusters. To our knowledge, we are the first ones to handle the mixed cases altogether. Also, we remark that there are many papers in the literature concerning the construction of the bubbling cluster or bubbling tower solutions. For bubbling towers, we refer to Del Pino et al. [16], Musso and Pistoia [30], Pistoia and Vétois [31], and the references therein. For bubbling clusters, we refer to Wei and Yan [36, 37], and the references therein. Our strategy is to design a "good" space for the interaction term $\sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p$ so that (1.15) has a solution ρ_0 with the desired control. Choosing the right norm is a very delicate process.

 $(U_i + U_j)^p - U_i^p - U_j^p$ on different regions of \mathbb{R}^n . Fortunately, we obtain a uniform norm $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ (cf. eq (3.16)) to handle the bubbling tower and bubbling cluster at the same time, which reduces the amount of work significantly. Then $\|\sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p\|_{**} \leq C(n,\nu)$ follows from the estimates of all pairs by a simple inequality.

The existence of ρ_0 satisfying (1.15) is based on some a priori estimates (cf. Lemma 5.1). We use a contradiction argument to establish such estimates and divide \mathbb{R}^n into three regions: core, neck, and exterior region (cf. Proposition 3.4). The core region of a particular bubble is where it dominates all the others. The exterior region is where far from the core of all bubbles. The neck regions are the rest. A standard blow-up argument handles the core regions. The exterior region is excluded by a rough point-wise estimate using Green's representation (cf. Proposition 4.3). The neck region is a new phenomenon we have to deal with. We leverage the fact that neck regions are narrow domains to modify the weight function W(x) (cf. eq (5.14)) to be a super-solution. This is the most crucial and technical part of the proof. After establishing the a priori estimate, we get the existence of ρ_0 from the standard contraction mapping theorem (cf. Proposition 5.4). Consequently $\|\rho_0\|_* \leq C(n, \nu)$.

We also construct an example that demonstrates the sharpness of the exponents in (1.10). Suppose $\sigma = U_1 + U_2$ where $U_1 := U[-Re_1, 1]$ and $U_2 = U[Re_1, 1]$. By Proposition 5.4, there exists ρ_0 satisfying (1.15) when $\nu = 2$. Then we let $u = U_1 + U_2 + \rho_0$ and $f = -\Delta u - u|u|^{p-1} = -\sum_{i,a} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a$. Using Green's representation and the point-wise estimates (1.16) and (1.17), we establish that $\|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2}$ is (up to some constant) no less than $\zeta_n(\|f\|_{H^{-1}})$. We prove that the dist $(u, \mathcal{T}) \gtrsim \|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2}$ and this finishes the construction.

The organization of the paper is as follows. In the section 2, we prove the main results Theorem 1.4 and Corollary 1.6 assuming several crucial estimates on ρ and $\nabla \rho$. In the section 3, we set up the norms and spaces for the error function. We start with just two bubbles and construct the weight functions V and W. Then we list several integral estimates involving V and W. In the section 4, we prove a rough C^0 bound by Green's representation and establish a bubble tree structure for a family of bubbles with vanishing interaction. Section 5 is the main part of this paper. We use the contradiction argument to prove a priori estimate for ρ_0 . The crucial Proposition 5.4 is derived based on that estimate. Section 6 is devoted to proving the L^2 estimate of $\nabla \rho$. With section 5 and section 6, the main results Theorem 1.4 and Corollary 1.6 are justified. In section 7, we construct an example to verify Theorem 1.5. Appendix A mainly consists of various integral estimates between bubbles and their derivatives. Appendix B is devoted to computing the integral required in section 5.

2. PROOF OF THE MAIN THEOREM

In this section, we will prove Theorem 1.4 and Corollary 1.6 based on some crucial estimates, whose proofs are deferred to the section 6. We first give some basic properties of Aubin-Talenti bubble and its derivatives with respect to parameters z, λ .

For $i = 1, \dots, \nu$, let us define

$$Z_i^a(x) := \frac{1}{\lambda_i} \left. \frac{\partial U[z,\lambda_i]}{\partial z^a} \right|_{z=z_i} = (2-n)U[z_i,\lambda_i](x) \frac{\lambda_i(x^a-z^a)}{1+\lambda_i^2|x-z_i|^2},$$

$$Z_i^{n+1}(x) := \lambda_i \left. \frac{\partial U[z_i,\lambda]}{\partial \lambda} \right|_{\lambda=\lambda_i} = \frac{n-2}{2} U[z_i,\lambda_i](x) \frac{1-\lambda_i^2|x-z_i|^2}{1+\lambda_i^2|x-z_i|^2},$$
(2.1)

where z^a is the *a*-th component of *z* for $a = 1, \dots, n$.

Since $U_i := U[z, \lambda]$ satisfies $\Delta U + U^p = 0$, by taking derivatives with respect to z^a and λ , we have Z_i^a satisfies

$$\Delta Z_i^a + p U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a = 0, (2.2)$$

for any $i = 1, \dots, \nu$ and $1 \le a \le n+1$. In fact, the kernel of $\Delta + pU_i^{p-1}$ in $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is exactly spanned by $\{Z_i^a : a = 1, \dots, n+1\}$ (see [6]). We call this property the *non-degeneracy* of Aubin-Talenti bubbles. Using the explicit form of $U[z, \lambda]$ and (2.1), it is easy to verify

$$|Z_i^a| \lesssim U_i, \quad \forall i = 1, \cdots, \nu, \forall a = 1, \cdots, n+1.$$

It is also well-known that $||U[z, \lambda]||_{\dot{H}^1}$, $||U[z, \lambda]||_{L^{2^*}}$ are all dimensional constants independent of z and λ . These facts will be utilized repeatedly without being explicitly stated.

Suppose $u = \sigma + \rho$ where $\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i$ is the best approximation (see (1.12)). Then

$$\Delta u + u|u|^{p-1} = \Delta \rho + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho + h + N_{\sigma}(\rho), \qquad (2.3)$$

where

$$h = \sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p, \quad N_{\sigma}(\rho) = (\sigma + \rho)|\sigma + \rho|^{p-1} - \sigma^p - p\sigma^{p-1}\rho.$$

Let $f = -\Delta u - u|u|^{p-1}$. Then (2.3) can be reorganized as

$$\Delta \rho + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho + h + N_{\sigma}(\rho) + f = 0.$$
(2.4)

If $n \ge 6$, then $p \in (1, 2]$. We have the following elementary inequality (for instance, see [14, Appendix D])

$$\left| (\sigma + \rho) |\sigma + \rho|^{p-1} - \sigma^p - p\sigma^{p-1}\rho \right| \lesssim |\rho|^p.$$

Thus

$$|N_{\sigma}(\rho)| \lesssim |\rho|^p.$$

Multiplying (2.4) by Z_k^{n+1} (we specify the choice of k in Lemma 2.3) and integrating over \mathbb{R}^n , by the orthogonal condition (1.14), we have

$$\left|\int hZ_k^{n+1}\right| \le \left|\int fZ_k^{n+1}\right| + \left|\int p\sigma^{p-1}\rho Z_k^{n+1}\right| + C\int |\rho|^p |Z_k^{n+1}|.$$

It follows from (2.2) that $\|\nabla Z_k^{n+1}\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \|U_k\|_{L^{2^*}}^{2^*}$ which is a dimensional constant independent of z_k and λ_k . Thus $|\int f Z_k^{n+1}| \leq C \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$. Hence

$$\left| \int h Z_k^{n+1} \right| \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + \left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1} \right| + \int |\rho|^p |Z_k^{n+1}|.$$
 (2.5)

Lemma 2.1. Suppose that u satisfies (1.9) with δ small enough. Then

$$\int hZ_k^{n+1} = \int h\lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k = \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} \int U_i^p \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k + o(Q), \qquad (2.6)$$

where Q is defined at (1.6).

Proof. The first identity follows from the definition $Z_k^{n+1} = \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k$. Denote $\sigma = \sigma_k + U_k$ where $\sigma_k = \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} U_i$. We make the following decomposition

$$\int h\lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k = \int (\sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p) \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k = J_1 + J_2 + J_3 + J_4,$$

where

$$J_{1} = \int_{\{\nu U_{k} \ge \sigma_{k}\}} (pU_{k}^{p-1}\sigma_{k} - \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} U_{i}^{p})\lambda_{k}\partial_{\lambda_{k}}U_{k},$$

$$J_{2} = \int_{\{\nu U_{k} \ge \sigma_{k}\}} (\sigma^{p} - U_{k}^{p} - pU_{k}^{p-1}\sigma_{k})\lambda_{k}\partial_{\lambda_{k}}U_{k},$$

$$J_{3} = \int_{\{\sigma_{k} > \nu U_{k}\}} (p\sigma_{k}^{p-1}U_{k} + \sigma_{k}^{p} - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_{i}^{p})\lambda_{k}\partial_{\lambda_{k}}U_{k},$$

$$J_{4} = \int_{\{\sigma_{k} > \nu U_{k}\}} (\sigma^{p} - \sigma_{k}^{p} - p\sigma_{k}^{p-1}U_{k})\lambda_{k}\partial_{\lambda_{k}}U_{k}.$$

Notice that $|\lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k| \lesssim U_k$. Based on the inequality

$$|(a+b)^p - a^p - pa^{p-1}b| \lesssim a^{p-2}b^2 \quad \text{if } a \ge b > 0,$$

we have

$$|J_2| \lesssim \int_{\{\nu U_k > \sigma_k\}} U_k^{p-1} \sigma_k^2 \lesssim \int U_k^{p-\epsilon} \sigma_k^{1+\epsilon} \approx Q^{1+\epsilon}.$$
 (2.7)

Here $\epsilon > 0$ is very small, such that $1 + \epsilon , and in the last step we have used Lemma A.3. Similarly <math>|J_4| \lesssim Q^{1+\epsilon}$. For J_3 ,

$$|J_3| = \left| \int_{\{\sigma_k \ge \nu U_k\}} (p\sigma_k^{p-1}U_k + \sigma_k^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p)\lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k \right|$$
$$\lesssim \int_{\{\sigma_k \ge \nu U_k\}} p\sigma_k^{p-\epsilon} U_k^{1+\epsilon} + \int \left| \sigma_k^p - \sum_{i=1, i \ne k}^{\nu} U_i^p \right| U_k + \int_{\{\sigma_k \ge \nu U_k\}} U_k^{p+1}.$$

Using an elementary inequality

$$\left| \sigma_k^p - \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} U_i^p \right| \lesssim \sum_{\substack{1 \le i < j \le \nu \\ i \ne k, j \ne k}} U_i^{p-1} U_j$$

and the triple integral estimate in Lemma A.4, we have

$$|J_3| \lesssim Q^{1+\epsilon} + \int_{\{\sigma_k \ge \nu U_k\}} U_k^{p+1}.$$

Consider the second term on the RHS. Lemma A.1 implies

$$\int_{\{U_i \ge U_k\}} U_k^{p+1} \le \int U_k^{p-\epsilon} \inf(U_i^{1+\epsilon}, U_k^{1+\epsilon}) = O(q_{ik}^{\frac{n}{n-2}} |\log q_{ik}|) = o(Q),$$

therefore

$$\int_{\{\sigma_k \ge \nu U_k\}} U_k^{p+1} \le \sum_{i=1, i \ne k}^{\nu} \int_{\{U_i > U_k\}} U_k^{p+1} = o(Q).$$

Therefore $|J_3| = o(Q)$. Now consider J_1 :

$$J_{1} - \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} p \int U_{k}^{p-1} U_{i} \lambda_{k} \partial_{\lambda_{k}} U_{k} = J_{1} - \int p U_{k}^{p-1} \sigma_{k} \lambda_{k} \partial_{\lambda_{k}} U_{k}$$
$$= -\int_{\{\nu U_{k} < \sigma_{k}\}} p U_{k}^{p-1} \sigma_{k} \lambda_{k} \partial_{k} U_{k} - \int_{\{\nu U_{k} > \sigma_{k}\}} \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} U_{i}^{p} \lambda_{k} \partial_{\lambda_{k}} U_{k} = o(Q).$$

We applied the same trick in (2.7) to obtain o(Q). With the above estimates of J_i , i = 1, 2, 3, 4, we can get

$$\int h\lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k = \sum_{i=1, i \neq k}^{\nu} p \int U_k^{p-1} U_i \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k + o(Q).$$

Simple integration by parts shows that

$$p\int U_k^{p-1}U_i\lambda_k\partial_{\lambda_k}U_k = \int U_i^p\lambda_k\partial_{\lambda_k}U_k.$$

Thus (2.6) holds.

Now let us go back to (2.5). In Lemma 6.5, we will provide two important estimates

$$\left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1} \right| = o(Q) + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}, \quad \int |\rho|^p |Z_k^{n+1}| = o(Q) + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$
(2.8)

Remark 2.2. These two terms have rough bounds easily by Hölder's inequality and Sobolev inequality. Indeed, for instance, when $n \ge 7$, as did in [22, (3.31)],

$$\left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1} \right| \lesssim \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2} Q^{p-1},$$
$$\int |\rho|^p |Z_k^{n+1}| \lesssim \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2}^p.$$

By Lemma 2.1 and the above two estimates, one can achieve

$$Q \lesssim \|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} Q^{p-1} + \|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2}^p + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$
(2.9)

Multiplying (2.4) by ρ , the approach in [22] would induce $\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} \lesssim Q^{p-1} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$. Plugging in this fact to (2.9), we obtain $Q \lesssim Q^{2(p-1)} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$. One fails to conclude anything when $2(p-1) \leq 1$ (equivalent to $n \geq 10$). This obstacle motivates us to have better control of ρ instead of simply using Hölder's inequality and Sobolev inequality.

Using (2.8), the interaction between the bubbles can be estimated as follows.

Lemma 2.3. Suppose that u satisfies (1.9) with δ small enough. Then we have

$$Q \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Proof. We shall prove $q_{ij} \leq ||f||_{H^{-1}}$ for each pair i < j by an iteration argument. Without loss of generality (WLOG), we may assume that $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_{\nu}$. Applying Lemma A.2, one has

$$\left| \int U_i^p \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k \right| \lesssim q_{ik}, \quad \forall i \neq k,$$
(2.10)

$$\int U_i^p \lambda_k \partial_{\lambda_k} U_k \approx -q_{ik}, \quad \forall i < k.$$
(2.11)

For each $2 \le l \le \nu$, let us introduce the following induction hypothesis (P_l) .

$$(P_l): \sum_{j=l}^{\nu} \sum_{i=1}^{j-1} q_{ij} \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + o(Q).$$

First, we take $k = \nu$ in (2.5) and (2.6). From (2.8) and (2.11) we have

$$\sum_{i=1}^{\nu-1} q_{i\nu} \approx -\sum_{i=1}^{\nu-1} \int U_i^p \lambda_\nu \partial_{\lambda_\nu} U_\nu \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + o(Q).$$

It implies that (P_{ν}) is true. Second, suppose (P_{l+1}) is true. Now we take k = l in (2.5) and (2.6). By (2.8), (2.10), (2.11) and the assumption (P_{l+1}) , we get

$$\sum_{i=1}^{l-1} q_{il} \approx -\sum_{i=1}^{l-1} \int U_i^p \lambda_l \partial_{\lambda_l} U_l \lesssim \sum_{i=l+1}^{\nu} \left| \int U_i^p \lambda_l \partial_{\lambda_l} U_l \right| + \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + o(Q)$$

$$\lesssim \sum_{i=l+1}^{\nu} q_{il} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + o(Q) \lesssim \|f\|_{H^{-1}} + o(Q)$$

Then (P_l) holds. Inductively, we obtain that (P_2) holds. That is $Q \approx \sum_{i < j} q_{ij} \lesssim ||f||_{H^{-1}} + o(Q)$. Then $Q \lesssim ||f||_{H^{-1}}$.

Now we can prove the main result Theorem 1.4.

Proof of Theorem 1.4. Write $\rho = \rho_0 + \rho_1$ where ρ_0 solves (1.15). By Proposition 6.1, we have

$$\|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q).$$

By Proposition 6.4, we have

$$\|\nabla \rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim Q^2 + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Since we have shown $Q \leq ||f||_{H^{-1}}$ in the previous Lemma 2.3, then

$$\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} \le \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2} + \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \zeta_n(\|f\|_{H^{-1}}).$$

Here we have used the fact that $\zeta_n(x)$ is increasing near 0. Therefore (1.10) holds. Finally, (1.11) follows from the fact $\int U_i^p U_j \approx q_{ij} \leq Q$ and Lemma 2.3.

Proof of Corollary 1.6. The proof is identical to that of Corollary 3.4 in [22]. \Box

It remains to establish Lemma 6.5, Proposition 6.1 and Proposition 6.4. These depend crucially on a point-wise estimate of ρ_0 , which will be done in section 5.

3. Setting up spaces and norms

In this section, we shall introduce two weight functions V and W, which measure the behavior of the interaction between bubbles and the ρ functions defined in (2.4). These are fundamental for obtaining point-wise estimates of ρ .

Let us begin with a rough analysis. Consider the equation (2.4) of ρ . The linearized operator is $\Delta + p\sigma^{p-1}$, $h + N_{\sigma}(\rho) + f$ is the non-homogeneous term and ρ is the solution. h is the main data that encodes the interaction of bubbles. $N_{\sigma}(\rho)$ is a higher-order term in ρ and negligible. Therefore, an approximation of ρ can be obtained from studying the linear equation $\Delta \rho_0 + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho_0 = h$. As the interaction of bubbles becomes smaller and smaller, $(\Delta + p\sigma^{p-1})Z_i^a$ will converge to 0. This indicates the linearized operator has a non-trivial approximate kernel when the interaction is small. According to Fredholm's alternative, to solve $\Delta \rho_0 + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho_0 = h$ in a nice space, one needs h to be orthogonal to the approximate kernel. Equivalently, we can project h to the orthogonal space of the approximate kernel. This amounts to solving the equation up to some Lagrange multiplier.

It leads us to consider the following linear equation

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi + p \sigma^{p-1} \phi = h + \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} \phi Z_i^a = 0, \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; \ a = 1, \cdots, n+1, \end{cases}$$
(3.1)

where $\sigma = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U[z_i, \lambda_i]$ is the sum of a family of δ -interacting bubbles. We always assume δ is very small. We shall use finite-dimensional reduction to prove the solvability of ϕ given a reasonable h in Proposition 5.3. To that end, we need to set up the norms and spaces.

Let $I = \{1, 2, \dots, \nu\}$. Throughout this paper, we denote $y_i = \lambda_i (x - z_i)$ and

$$R_{ij} := \max_{i \neq j \in I} \left\{ \sqrt{\lambda_i / \lambda_j}, \sqrt{\lambda_j / \lambda_i}, \sqrt{\lambda_i \lambda_j} |z_i - z_j| \right\}.$$
 (3.2)

Definition 3.1. For any two bubbles U_i, U_j , if $R_{ij} = \sqrt{\lambda_i \lambda_j} |z_i - z_j|$, then we call them a *bubbling cluster*, otherwise call them a *bubbling tower*.

We always denote

$$R := \frac{1}{2} \min_{i \neq j \in I} R_{ij}.$$
 (3.3)

It holds that $R^{2-n} \approx Q$ (see (1.6)).

Let us define various weight functions designed to measure the behavior of h and ρ . When the dimension $n \ge 7$, for each $i \in I$ and any t > 1, the inner (outer) v-weight and w-weight of bubble U_i with radius t are defined by

$$\begin{split} v_i^{\rm in}(x,t) &= \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}}t^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \chi_{\{|y_i| \le t\}}, \quad v_i^{\rm out}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}}t^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} \chi_{\{|y_i| > t\}}, \\ w_i^{\rm in}(x,t) &= \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}}t^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2} \chi_{\{|y_i| \le t\}}, \quad w_i^{\rm out}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}}t^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-4}} \chi_{\{|y_i| > t\}}. \end{split}$$

When n = 6, we also define the following \hat{v} -weight and \hat{w} -weight:

$$\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{4}t^{-2}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{4}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| \le t\}}, \quad \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{4}t^{-1}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{5}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > t\}}, \\
\hat{w}_{i}^{\text{in}}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}t^{-2}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{2}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| \le t\}}, \quad \hat{w}_{i}^{\text{out}}(x,t) = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}t^{-1}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{3}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > t\}}.$$

Now we can define $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ and $\|\cdot\|_{*}$ norms as

$$||h||_{**} = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |h(x)| V^{-1}(x), \quad ||\phi||_* = \sup_{x \in \mathbb{R}^n} |\phi(x)| W^{-1}(x)$$
(3.4)

with the total weights

$$V(x) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \left(v_i^{\text{in}}(x, R) + v_i^{\text{out}}(x, R) \right), & n \ge 7, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \left(\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}}(x, R^2) + \hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}(x, R^2) \right), & n = 6, \end{cases}$$
(3.5)

$$W(x) = \begin{cases} \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \left(w_i^{\text{in}}(x, R) + w_i^{\text{out}}(x, R) \right), & n \ge 7, \\ \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \left(\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}}(x, R^2) + \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}}(x, R^2) \right), & n = 6. \end{cases}$$
(3.6)

For simplicity, we denote $v_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x) = v_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x, R)$ and $w_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x) = w_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x, R)$, while $\hat{v}_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x) = \hat{v}_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x, R^2)$ and $\hat{w}_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x) = w_i^{\text{in(out)}}(x, R^2)$.

Remark 3.2. (1) The ad hoc weight V captures the interaction behavior between bubbles $h = \sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p$. See Proposition 3.4. The weight W is designed to solve $\Delta_x W \approx V$, see Lemma 3.6. We have to define a separate norm on n = 6, as explained in Remark 3.5. The definitions of V and W depend on $U[z_i, \lambda_i], i = 1, \dots, \nu$. This is implicitly understood throughout this paper. (2) For each $i \in I$, let $f_i(x,t) = v_i^{\text{in}}(x,t) + v_i^{\text{out}}(x,t)$. By the explicit form of $v_i^{\text{in(out)}}$, we have

$$f_i(x,t) = (1 + o(t^{-1}))\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2} \min\{t^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4}, t^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{2-n}\}.$$

One can verify that $f_i(x, t)$ is an *approximately non-increasing* function of t. That is, for $1 < t_1 \le t_2$, we have

$$f_i(x, t_2) \lesssim f_i(x, t_1). \tag{3.7}$$

The monotonicity also holds for $w_i^{\text{in}}(x,t) + w_i^{\text{out}}(x,t)$, $\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}}(x,t) + \hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}(x,t)$, and $\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}}(x,t) + \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}}(x,t)$ in dimension 6. This monotonicity of total weight functions will help us to obtain the convenient form of weight functions for any finite number of bubbles in Proposition 3.4.

In this paper, we often need to deal with terms like $U_i^{\gamma_i}U_j^{\gamma_j}$ where $\gamma_i, \gamma_j \ge 0$. Note that $U_i = (n(n-2))^{(n-2)/4}\lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}\langle y_i\rangle^{2-n}$ where $y_i = \lambda_i(x-z_i)$ and $\langle y \rangle = \sqrt{1+|y|^2} \approx 1+|y|$. It is natural to define the following cross-term

$$g_{ij}(x) = \langle y_i \rangle^{-\gamma_i} \langle y_j \rangle^{-\gamma_j}.$$
(3.8)

The following lemma gives us an applicable estimate of the cross-term and will be heavily used throughout the rest of this paper. It has the advantage of not having to distinguish between bubbling clusters and towers. To make the estimates more flexible to different scenarios, we introduce parameter τ in the second line of inequality (3.9). In some regions, we set $\tau = 0$ to obtain the fastest decay of $\langle y_1 \rangle$, while in other regions, we set $\tau = \gamma_2$ to achieve a more negative power of R_{12} .

Lemma 3.3. Suppose $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2$ and $1 \ll R_{12}$ where R_{12} is defined at (3.2). For $\gamma_1 \geq 0, \gamma_2 \geq \tau \geq 0$, it holds that

$$g_{12}(x) \lesssim \begin{cases} R_{12}^{-\gamma_1} \left(\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}\right)^{\gamma_1/2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{-\gamma_2}, & |y_2| \le \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}} \frac{R_{12}}{2}, \\ R_{12}^{-\tau} \left(\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}\right)^{\gamma_2 - \tau/2} \langle y_1 \rangle^{-\gamma_1 - \gamma_2 + \tau}, & |y_2| \ge \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}} \frac{R_{12}}{2}. \end{cases}$$
(3.9)

Proof. First, suppose that U_1 and U_2 form a bubbling cluster. That is, $R_{12} = \sqrt{\lambda_1 \lambda_2} |z_1 - z_2| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_2 / \lambda_1}$, and so that $R_{12} \sqrt{\lambda_1 / \lambda_2} = \lambda_1 |z_1 - z_2| \ge 1$. For $|y_2| \le \sqrt{\lambda_2 / \lambda_1} R_{12}/2$, we have

$$|y_1| = \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2} |y_2 - \lambda_2(z_1 - z_2)| \ge \frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2} \left(\sqrt{\frac{\lambda_2}{\lambda_1}} R_{12} - |y_2| \right) \ge \sqrt{\frac{\lambda_1}{\lambda_2}} \frac{R_{12}}{2}.$$
 (3.10)

Then

$$g_{12}(x) \lesssim R_{12}^{-\gamma_1} \left(\lambda_2/\lambda_1\right)^{\gamma_1/2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{-\gamma_2}.$$

For $|y_2| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1} R_{12}/2$, equivalently $(\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_2| \ge \lambda_1|z_1 - z_2|/2 \ge 1/2$, then $1 + |y_1| \le (\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_2| + \lambda_1|z_1 - z_2| + 1 \le 5(\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_2|.$ It means that both of $\langle y_2 \rangle \gtrsim \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1} R_{12}$ and $\langle y_2 \rangle \gtrsim (\lambda_2/\lambda_1) \langle y_1 \rangle$ hold. Then

$$g_{12}(x) \lesssim R_{12}^{-\tau} \left(\lambda_1/\lambda_2\right)^{\gamma_2 - \tau/2} \left\langle y_1 \right\rangle^{-\gamma_1 - \gamma_2 + \tau}.$$

Second, suppose that U_1 and U_2 form a bubbling tower. That is, $R_{12} = \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1} > \sqrt{\lambda_1\lambda_2}|z_1 - z_2|$, and so that $\lambda_1|z_1 - z_2| < 1$. For $|y_2| \le \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}/2$, we have

$$1 + |y_1| \ge 1 + \lambda_1 |z_1 - z_2| - (\lambda_1 / \lambda_2) |y_2| \ge 1/2 = \sqrt{\lambda_1 / \lambda_2} R_{12}/2.$$
(3.11)

Then

$$g_{12}(x) \lesssim \langle y_2 \rangle^{-\gamma_2} = R_{12}^{-\gamma_1} \left(\lambda_2 / \lambda_1 \right)^{\gamma_1/2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{-\gamma_2}.$$

For $\sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}/2 \le |y_2|$, equivalently $1/2 \le (\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_1|$, it holds that

$$1 + |y_1| \le (\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_2| + \lambda_1|z_1 - z_2| + 1 \le 5(\lambda_1/\lambda_2)|y_2|.$$

Consequently,

$$g_{12}(x) \lesssim R_{12}^{-\tau} \left(\lambda_1/\lambda_2\right)^{\gamma_2 - \tau/2} \left\langle y_1 \right\rangle^{-\gamma_1 - \gamma_2 + \tau}.$$

Proposition 3.4. There exist a small constant $\delta_0 = \delta_0(n, \nu)$ and a constant $C(n, \nu)$ such that if $\delta < \delta_0$, then

$$\|\sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p\|_{**} \le C(n,\nu)$$

Proof. We shall start with the case of just two bubbles and then generalize it to finitely many ones.

• Let $U_1 = U[z_1, \lambda_1]$ and $U_2 = U[z_2, \lambda_2]$. WLOG, we can assume that $\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2$. Since $p \in (1, 2]$, we have $h = (U_1 + U_2)^p - U_1^p - U_2^p > 0$.

On the other hand, if 0 < a < b, then

$$(a+b)^p - a^p - b^p \lesssim b^{p-1}a = a^{p-1}b(a/b)^{2-p} \le a^{p-1}b.$$

If $0 < b \le a$, then

$$(a+b)^p - a^p - b^p \lesssim a^{p-1}b = b^{p-1}a(b/a)^{2-p} \le b^{p-1}a.$$

In conclusion, we have

$$h = (U_1 + U_2)^p - U_1^p - U_2^p \lesssim \min\{U_1^{p-1}U_2, U_2^{p-1}U_1\}.$$

On the set $\{|y_2| \leq R_{12}/2\}$, thanks to (3.10) and (3.11), we always have $\langle y_1 \rangle \geq \sqrt{\lambda_1/\lambda_2}R_{12}/2$. Hence, it holds that $U_1/U_2 = (\lambda_1/\lambda_2)^{(n-2)/2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{n-2} \langle y_1 \rangle^{2-n} \leq 2^{n-2}$. Thus, applying Lemma 3.3 we get

$$h \lesssim U_2^{p-1} U_1 \chi_{\{|y_2| \le R_{12}/2\}} \lesssim \lambda_2^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R_{12}^{2-n} \langle y_2 \rangle^{-4} \chi_{\{|y_2| \le R_{12}/2\}}.$$
(3.12)

We shall call the region $\{|y_2| \leq R_{12}\}$ the core of U_2 (concerning U_1). One can see that h has slow decay in this region. See the illustration of the bubbling tower and cluster in Figure 1 and 2 respectively.

On the set $\{R_{12}/2 \leq |y_2| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}/2\}$, we have $|y_1| \leq 2\sqrt{\lambda_1/\lambda_2}R_{12}$. Hence, it holds that $U_2/U_1 \leq (\lambda_2/\lambda_1)^{(n-2)/2} \langle y_1 \rangle^{n-2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{2-n} \leq 6^{n-2}$. Thus, applying Lemma 3.3 we get

$$h \lesssim U_1^{p-1} U_2 \chi_{\{|y_2| \ge R_{12}/2\}} \lesssim \lambda_2^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R_{12}^{-4} \langle y_2 \rangle^{2-n} \chi_{\{|y_2| \ge R_{12}/2\}}.$$
(3.13)

We shall call the region $\{R_{12} \leq |y_2| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}\}$ the neck of U_2 (concerning U_1). Within it, h has the same decay as Green's function.

On the set $\{|y_1| \leq R_{12}/2\} \cap \{|y_2| \geq \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}/2\}$, we have $U_2/U_1 = (\lambda_2/\lambda_1)^{(n-2)/2} \langle y_1 \rangle^{n-2} \langle y_2 \rangle^{2-n} \leq 2^{n-2}$. By Lemma 3.3 when $\tau = \gamma_2 = n-2$, we get

$$h \lesssim U_1^{p-1} U_2 \chi_{\{|y_1| \le R_{12}/2\}} \lesssim \lambda_1^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R_{12}^{2-n} \langle y_1 \rangle^{-4} \chi_{\{|y_1| \le R_{12}/2\}}.$$
(3.14)

This region is the core of U_1 (concerning U_2), removing the core and neck of U_2 . In the outer region $\{|y_1| > R_{12}/2\} \cap \{|y_2| > \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}R_{12}/2\}$, we have

$$h \lesssim U_1^p + U_2^p \lesssim \frac{\lambda_1^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R_{12}^{-4}}{\langle y_1 \rangle^{n-2}} \chi_{\{|y_1| > R_{12}/2\}} + \frac{\lambda_2^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R_{12}^{-4}}{\langle y_2 \rangle^{n-2}} \chi_{\{|y_2| > R_{12}/2\}}.$$
 (3.15)

From (3.12)-(3.15), we conclude

$$h \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[v_i^{\text{in}} + v_i^{\text{out}} \right] (x, \frac{R_{12}}{2}) \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[v_i^{\text{in}} + v_i^{\text{out}} \right] (x, R).$$
(3.16)

Note that, thanks to the monotonicity (3.7), the $\frac{1}{2}R_{12}$ can be replaced by a fixed R in the last inequality in (3.16). It is the key to define the weight V for any finite number of bubbles where the *common* $R = \frac{1}{2} \min_{i \neq j} \{R_{ij}\}$ will be used.

When n = 6, i.e., p = 2 and 2 - n = -4, the core, neck, and outer region of U_2 have the same decay. We strengthen (3.15) to have a faster decay in the outer region. That is,

$$h \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{4}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{8}} \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left(\frac{\lambda_{i}^{4} R_{12}^{-4}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{4}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > \frac{R_{12}^{2}}{2}\}} + \frac{\lambda_{i}^{4} R_{12}^{-2}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{5}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > \frac{R_{12}^{2}}{2}\}} \right).$$
(3.17)

From (3.12)-(3.14) and (3.17), we conclude

$$h \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}} \right] (x, \frac{R_{12}^{2}}{2}) \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{2} \left[\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}} \right] (x, R^{2}).$$
(3.18)

• For any finite number of bubbles, we shall use the following inequality in Lemma A.6.

$$h = \sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p \le \sum_{i < j} |(U_i + U_j)^p - U_i^p - U_j^p|.$$

Each term in the summation on the RHS can be bounded above by the previous estimates of two bubbles in (3.16) and (3.18). Summing them up, one can obtain $h \le C(n, \nu)V(x)$.



FIGURE 1. U_1 and U_2 form a bubbling tower with $\lambda_1 \ll \lambda_2$. The dotted line denotes the h. The right picture shows that the core region of U_1 (i.e. $\{|y_1| \le R_{12}\} = \{x : |x - z_1| \le \sqrt{\lambda_2/\lambda_1}/\lambda_1\}$) contains that of U_2 (i.e. $\{|y_2| \le R_{12}\} = \{x : |x - z_2| \le 1/\sqrt{\lambda_1\lambda_2}\}$).



FIGURE 2. U_1 and U_2 form a bubbling cluster. The right picture shows that the core region of U_1 contains that of U_2 like a bubbling tower when $\lambda_1 \ll \lambda_2$. However, if $\lambda_1 \approx \lambda_2$, the core region of them shall be disjoint.

Remark 3.5. To have a simple form of V, we bound h just by $\langle y_i \rangle^{2-n}$ in (3.15). In fact, h decays faster than V at infinity. Such relaxation causes a problem for n = 6 when estimating $\int (w_i^{\text{out}})^{p+1}$, because w_i^{out} has the critical decay (in the sense of $\int (w_i^{\text{out}})^{p+1} = \infty$) in the outer region of bubbles. Thus we have to define a separate norm in dimension n = 6. Any weight in the outer region that decays faster than w_i^{out} works in dimension n = 6. For simplicity, we just choose \hat{w}_i^{out} .

The previous proposition justifies the choice of V. The weight function W(x) is designed to satisfy $\Delta_x W \approx V$. We verify this through Lemma 3.6.

Lemma 3.6. Suppose that $R \gg 1$. For V and W defined in (3.5) and (3.6) respectively, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} V(x) dx \approx W(\tilde{x}).$$
(3.19)

 $n \pm 2$

Proof. Let us first consider $n \ge 7$. Denote $y_i = \lambda_i(x - z_i)$ and $\tilde{y}_i = \lambda_i(\tilde{x} - z_i)$. Making a change of variable we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} v_{i}^{\text{in}}(x) dx = \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{4}} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| \leq R\}} dx$$

$$= \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n} \int_{|y_{i}| \leq R} |\tilde{y}_{i} - y_{i}|^{2-n} \langle y_{i} \rangle^{-4} dy_{i}.$$
(3.20)

If $|\tilde{y}_i| \leq \frac{3}{2}R$, on the one hand, we use (A.3) in Lemma A.7 to obtain

$$\int_{|y_i| \le R} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \le \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \lesssim \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-2}.$$

On the other hand, on the set $\Omega = \{y_i : |y_i| \le \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle/2\} \subset \{|y_i| \le R\}$, we have $|\tilde{y}_i - y_i| \le 3\langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle/2$ and

$$\int_{|y_i| \le R} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \ge \int_{\Omega} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i$$

$$\gtrsim \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{2-n} \int_{\Omega} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \gtrsim \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-2}.$$
(3.21)

If $|\tilde{y}_i| \ge \frac{3}{2}R$, then $|\tilde{y}_i - y_i| \approx |\tilde{y}_i|$ on $\{|y_i| \le R\}$. Consequently,

$$\int_{|y_i| \le R} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \approx \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{2-n} \int_{|y_i| \le R} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} dy_i \approx \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{2-n} R^{n-4}.$$

Inserting the above two inequalities to (3.20), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} v_i^{\text{in}}(x) dx \approx \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} [R^{2-n} \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-2} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \le \frac{3}{2}R\}} + R^{-2} \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{2-n} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \ge \frac{3}{2}R\}}].$$

Consequently,

$$w_i^{\rm in}(\tilde{x}) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} v_i^{\rm in}(x) dx \lesssim w_i^{\rm in}(\tilde{x}) + w_i^{\rm out}(\tilde{x}).$$

Similarly, we have the following estimate for the integral of v_i^{out} ,

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} v_i^{\text{out}}(x) dx = \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4} \int_{|y_i| > R} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{2-n} dy_i$$
$$\approx \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-n} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \le \frac{2}{3}R\}} + \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4} \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{4-n} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \ge \frac{2}{3}R\}}.$$

Consequently,

$$w_i^{\text{out}}(\tilde{x}) \lesssim \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} v_i^{\text{out}}(x) dx \lesssim w_i^{\text{in}}(\tilde{x}) + w_i^{\text{out}}(\tilde{x}).$$

The proof of $n \ge 7$ is completed by combining the above two estimates. When n = 6, one needs to divide the \tilde{y}_i near R^2 and repeat the above proof. We omit the details.

We have the following integral estimates for V and W. They are needed in Lemma 5.2 and Proposition 6.1.

Lemma 3.7. Suppose that $n \ge 6$ and $R \gg 1$. It holds that

$$\|W\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim \begin{cases} R^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}, & n \ge 7, \\ R^{-4} (\log R)^{\frac{1}{3}}, & n = 6, \end{cases} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q), \tag{3.22}$$

$$\|V\|_{L^{(2^*)'}} \lesssim \begin{cases} R^{-\frac{n+2}{2}}, & n \ge 7, \\ R^{-4} (\log R)^{\frac{2}{3}}, & n = 6, \end{cases}$$
(3.23)

where $(2^*)' = \frac{2n}{n+2}$ is the Hölder conjugate of 2^* .

Proof. For $n \ge 7$, we have

$$\int (w_i^{\text{in}})^{p+1} = \int_{|y_i| \le R} \lambda_i^{-n} R^{-2n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-\frac{4n}{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{-np},$$
$$\int (w_i^{\text{out}})^{p+1} = \int_{|y_i| \ge R} \lambda_i^{-n} R^{-4(p+1)} \langle y_i \rangle^{(4-n)(p+1)} dx \lesssim R^{-np}.$$

Similarly, direct computation yields that, for n = 6,

$$\int (\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}})^3 + (\hat{w}_i^{\text{out}})^3 \lesssim R^{-12} \log R.$$

Summing over *i*, we get

$$\int W^{p+1} \lesssim \begin{cases} R^{-np}, & n \ge 7, \\ R^{-12} \log R, & n = 6. \end{cases}$$

Since p = (n+2)/(n-2) and $R^{2-n} \approx Q$, this implies (3.22). For $n \ge 7$, we have

$$\int (v_i^{\text{in}})^{\frac{2n}{n+2}} = \int_{|y_i| \le R} \lambda_i^{-n} R^{-\frac{2n(n-2)}{n+2}} \langle y_i \rangle^{-\frac{8n}{n+2}} dx \lesssim R^{-n},$$
$$\int (v_i^{\text{out}})^{\frac{2n}{n+2}} = \int_{|y_i| \ge R} \lambda_i^{-n} R^{-\frac{8n}{n+2}} \langle y_i \rangle^{-\frac{2n(n-2)}{n+2}} dx \lesssim R^{-n}.$$

Similarly, direct computation yields that, for n = 6,

$$\int (\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}})^{\frac{3}{2}} + (\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}})^{\frac{3}{2}} \lesssim R^{-6} \log R.$$

Summing over *i*, we get

$$\int V^{\frac{2n}{n+2}} \lesssim \begin{cases} R^{-n}, & n \ge 7, \\ R^{-6} \log R, & n = 6. \end{cases}$$

Since $(2^*)' = 2n/(n+2)$, this yields (3.23).

4. ANALYSIS OF BUBBLES WITH WEAK INTERACTION

This section presents some preliminary analysis leading to the proof of the main point-wise estimate in section 5. In the first subsection, we derive several technical lemmas. Then we prove a rough upper bound of solutions to (3.1) using Green's representation. In the second subsection, we deal with a sequence of ν bubbles with vanishing interaction. We show that there is a bubble tree structure of them. This tree structure facilitates various estimates of bubbles. We expect that it can be used in some other problems.

4.1. Rough upper bound. Denote $I = \{1, \dots, \nu\}$. Suppose $\{U_i = U[z_i, \lambda_i]$: $i \in I$ is a set of ν bubbles such that $Q = \max\{q_{ij} : 1 \le i \ne j \le \nu\} < \delta$. WLOG, assume that they are ordered as

$$\lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_{\nu}.$$

Define $z_{ij} = \lambda_i (z_j - z_i)$. It is easy to see that if $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$, then $R_{ij}\sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle$. In the following, we frequently have to compare $U_i^{p-1}w_j^{\text{in(out)}}$ with *v*-weights. It is easy to see that $U_i^{p-1}w_i^{\text{in(out)}} = n(n-2)v_i^{\text{in(out)}}\langle y_i \rangle^{-2}$. For $i \neq j$, we have the following lemma. following lemma.

Lemma 4.1. Suppose that $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$. We have

$$U_j^{p-1} w_i^{in} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{in} + R^{-2} v_j^{out} + R^{-2} v_i^{in},$$
(4.1)

$$U_j^{p-1} w_i^{out} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{in} + R^{-2} v_j^{out} + R^{-2} v_i^{out},$$
(4.2)

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{in} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{in}, \tag{4.3}$$

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{out} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} (v_i^{in} + v_i^{out} + v_j^{out}).$$

$$(4.4)$$

For any $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and M > 1, we also have the following

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{out} \lesssim ((\lambda_i/\lambda_j)^2 + \varepsilon^2) v_j^{out}, \quad on \ \{x : |y_i - z_{ij}| \le \varepsilon\},$$
(4.5)

$$w_j^{out} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{2n-10} \varepsilon^{4-n} (w_i^{in} + w_i^{out}), \quad on \ \{x : |y_i - z_{ij}| > \varepsilon\},$$
(4.6)

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{out} \lesssim (|z_{ij}| + M)^{-2} v_j^{out}, \quad on \ \{x : |y_i| \ge 2|z_{ij}| + M\},$$
(4.7)

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{out} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{\frac{2(n-6)}{n-2}} (\varepsilon^{-\frac{n-4}{2}} v_i^{in} + \varepsilon v_j^{out}), \quad on \ \{x : |y_i| \le R\}.$$
(4.8)

It follows from (4.4) that $U_i^{p-1}w_j^{\text{out}}$ is smaller compared to the *v*-weight only when $\langle z_{ij} \rangle$ is large. This is insufficient for late use, especially in the bubbling tower case. However, if $|z_{ij}|$ is small, then the weak interaction will force λ_j/λ_i to be very large, and (4.5) and (4.6) guarantee that $U_i^{p-1}w_j^{\text{out}}$ is still smaller or faster-decaying compared to the *v*-weight. The last two inequalities (4.7) and (4.8) will be used in a narrow domain, i.e., see $A_i^{(k)}$ in case 3 of the proof of Lemma 5.1, where we only need smallness of the coefficient before $v_j^{\text{out}}, j \in S(i)$.

Proof. • To prove (4.1), we divide it into two cases. First, on the set $\{|y_i| \leq R, |y_j| \leq R\}$, using (3.9), we get that $\langle y_i \rangle^{-2} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} (\lambda_j / \lambda_i) \langle y_j \rangle^{-4}$. Then

$$U_j^{p-1} w_i^{\mathrm{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \le R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{\mathrm{in}}.$$

Second, on the set $\{|y_i| \le R, |y_j| \ge R\}$, denoting $\alpha = \frac{4}{n+2} \le \frac{1}{2}$, we have

$$\begin{split} U_j^{p-1} w_i^{\mathrm{in}} &\approx R^{\alpha(6-n)} \frac{\langle y_i \rangle^{2-4\alpha}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{4-n\alpha}} \left(v_j^{\mathrm{out}} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \right)^{\alpha} (v_i^{\mathrm{in}})^{1-\alpha} \\ &\lesssim R^{2\alpha-2} \left(v_j^{\mathrm{out}} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \right)^{\alpha} (v_i^{\mathrm{in}})^{1-\alpha} \\ &\lesssim R^{2\alpha-2} [\varepsilon^{-1} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} v_j^{\mathrm{out}} + \varepsilon^{\alpha/(1-\alpha)} v_i^{\mathrm{in}}] \lesssim R^{-2} v_j^{\mathrm{out}} + R^{-2} v_i^{\mathrm{in}}. \end{split}$$

We apply Young's inequality in the third step and take $\varepsilon = R^{2\alpha-2}$ in the last step.

• To prove (4.2), we divide it into two cases. First, on the set $\{|y_j| \le R\}$, using (3.9), we get that $\langle y_i \rangle^{4-n} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4} \lesssim R_{ij}^{4-n} (\lambda_j / \lambda_i)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4}$. Then

$$U_j^{p-1} w_i^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim R_{ij}^{4-n} \frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j} R^{n-6} v_j^{\text{in}} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{\text{in}}.$$

Second, on the set $\{|y_i| > R, |y_j| \ge R\}$, we have

$$U_j^{p-1} w_i^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-4}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^{\frac{4}{n}} \left(\frac{v_i^{out}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2}\right)^{\frac{n-4}{n}} \left(\frac{v_j^{out}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}\right)^{\frac{4}{n}} \\ \lesssim \langle y_i \rangle^{-2} v_i^{\text{out}} + \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} v_j^{\text{out}} \le R^{-2} v_i^{\text{out}} + R^{-2} v_j^{\text{out}}.$$

• To prove (4.3), note that since $\lambda_j \geq \lambda_i$, then $R \leq R_{ij}/2 \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2$. On the set $\{|y_j| \leq R\}$, using (3.9), we have $\langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-4} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \langle y_j \rangle^{-4}$. Then, on the set $\{|y_j| \leq R\}$, we have

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\mathrm{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} = R_{ij}^{-2} v_j^{\mathrm{in}}$$

• To prove (4.4), we divide it into three cases. First, on the set $\{R \leq |y_j| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$, using (3.9), we can obtain $\langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{4-n} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-4} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \langle y_j \rangle^{4-n} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^3 \langle y_j \rangle^{2-n}$. Then

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} v_j^{\text{out}}.$$

We have used the fact that $R_{ij}\sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle$ when $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$ in the last step.

Second, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \le R\}$, we obtain $\langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{4-n} \lesssim$ $R_{ii}^{4-n}(\lambda_i/\lambda_j)^{\frac{n-4}{2}}\langle y_i\rangle^{-4}$. Then

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim R^{n-6} R_{ij}^{4-n} \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{v_i^{\text{in}}}{R_{ij}^2} \approx \frac{v_i^{\text{in}}}{\langle z_{ij} \rangle^2}$$

Third, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \ge R\}$,

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} = \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{8}{n-2}} \left(v_i^{\text{out}}\right)^{\frac{4}{n-2}} \left(v_j^{\text{out}}\right)^{\frac{n-6}{n-2}} \\ \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{8}{n-2}} \left[v_i^{\text{out}} + v_j^{\text{out}}\right] \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \le \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} \left[v_i^{\text{out}} + v_j^{\text{out}}\right],$$

where we have used Young's inequality and

$$\left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{8}{n-2}} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{10-n}{n-2}} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2}.$$

• Now we prove (4.5). On the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| \leq \varepsilon\}$, we have $\langle y_j \rangle^2 = 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i - z_{ij}|^2 \leq 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \varepsilon^2$. Consequently,

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} = \frac{\lambda_i^2 \langle y_j \rangle^2}{\lambda_j^2 \langle y_i \rangle^4} v_j^{\text{out}} \lesssim ((\lambda_i / \lambda_j)^2 + \varepsilon^2) v_j^{\text{out}}$$

• Now we prove (4.6). On the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| > \varepsilon\}$, we have $|y_i - z_{ij}| \ge \frac{\varepsilon}{1+|z_{ij}|+\varepsilon} \langle y_i \rangle$, then $\langle y_j \rangle \ge \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\varepsilon}{1+|z_{ij}|+\varepsilon} \langle y_i \rangle \gtrsim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\varepsilon}{\langle z_{ij} \rangle} \langle y_i \rangle$. Then

$$w_{j}^{\text{out}} = \frac{\lambda_{j}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{-4}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{-4}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{n-4}} \left(\frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{j}}\right)^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij}\rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^{n-4}$$
$$\lesssim R_{ij}^{n-6} \left(\frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{j}}\right)^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij}\rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^{n-4} [w_{i}^{\text{in}} + w_{i}^{\text{out}}]$$

where we have used

$$\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{4-n} \lesssim R_{ij}^{n-6} w_i^{\text{in}} + w_i^{\text{out}}.$$

If $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$, then $R_{ij}\sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle$. This completes the proof of (4.6). • Now we prove (4.7). On the set $\{|y_i| > 2|z_{ij}| + M\}$, we have $\langle y_j \rangle^2 = 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i - z_{ij}|^2 \leq 2(\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i|^2$. Then

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2 \langle y_j \rangle^2}{\lambda_j^2 \langle y_i \rangle^4} v_j^{\text{out}} \lesssim \langle y_i \rangle^{-2} v_j^{\text{out}} \lesssim (|z_{ij}| + M)^{-2} v_j^{\text{out}}$$

• To prove (4.8), we denote $\alpha = \frac{2}{n-2}$. Using Young's inequality, we get

$$U_i^{p-1} w_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim (\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j})^{\frac{\alpha}{2}(n-6)} R^{\alpha(n-6)} (v_i^{\text{in}})^{\alpha} (v_j^{\text{out}})^{1-\alpha}$$

$$\lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{\alpha(n-6)} [\varepsilon^{-\frac{1-\alpha}{\alpha}} v_i^{\text{in}} + \varepsilon v_j^{\text{out}}].$$

We have used $R_{ij} \sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle$ when $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$ in the last step.

A similar result holds for dimension n = 6. Note that we have $\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}}(x, R^2) = w_i^{\text{in}}(x, R) + w_i^{\text{out}}(x, R)\chi_{\{R \le |y_i| \le R^2\}}$ when plugging in n = 6. So does $\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}}(x, R^2)$. Therefore, the proof related to w_i^{out} and w_j^{out} in the previous lemma can establish the same estimates about \hat{w}_i^{in} and \hat{w}_j^{in} in dimension n = 6.

Lemma 4.2. Suppose that $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$. When the dimension n = 6, we have

$$U_{j}\hat{w}_{i}^{in} \lesssim R^{-2}[\hat{v}_{j}^{in} + \hat{v}_{j}^{out} + \hat{v}_{i}^{in}], \qquad (4.9)$$

$$U_j \hat{w}_i^{out} \lesssim R^{-2} [\hat{v}_j^{in} + \hat{v}_j^{out} + \hat{v}_i^{out}], \qquad (4.10)$$

$$U_{i}\hat{w}_{j}^{in} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} [\hat{v}_{i}^{in} + \hat{v}_{j}^{in}] + R^{-2} \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-1} \hat{v}_{i}^{out},$$
(4.11)

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{out} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-1} \hat{v}_i^{in} + R^{-2} \hat{v}_i^{out} + \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{out}.$$
 (4.12)

For any $0 < \varepsilon < 1$ and M > 1, we also have the following

$$U_i[\hat{w}_j^{in} + \hat{w}_j^{out}] \lesssim ((\lambda_i/\lambda_j)^2 + \varepsilon^2)[\hat{v}_j^{in} + \hat{v}_j^{out}], \quad on \ \{x : |y_i - z_{ij}| \le \varepsilon\}, \quad (4.13)$$

$$[\hat{w}_j^{in} + \hat{w}_j^{out}] \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^5 \varepsilon^{-3} [\hat{w}_i^{in} + \hat{w}_i^{out}], \quad on \ \{x : |y_i - z_{ij}| \ge \varepsilon\},$$
(4.14)

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{in(out)} \lesssim (|z_{ij}| + M)^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{in(out)}, \quad on \ \{x : |y_i| \ge 2|z_{ij}| + M\}, \tag{4.15}$$

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{in} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-1} \hat{v}_i^{in} + \varepsilon \hat{v}_j^{in}, \quad on \ \{x : |y_i| \le R^2\},\tag{4.16}$$

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{out} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{\frac{4}{5}} [\varepsilon^{-\frac{3}{2}} \hat{v}_i^{in} + \varepsilon \hat{v}_j^{out}], \quad on \ \{x : |y_i| \le R^2\}.$$

$$(4.17)$$

Proof. • To prove (4.9), we divide it into three cases. First, on the set $\{|y_i| \leq R^2, |y_j| \leq R\}$, one can use the first case in the proof of (4.1) to get $U_i \hat{w}_i^{\text{in}} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in}}$. Second, on the set $\{|y_i| \leq R^2, R \leq |y_j| \leq R^2\}$, we have

$$U_{j}\hat{w}_{i}^{\text{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}}{\langle y_{j} \rangle^{4}} \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}R^{-4}}{\langle y_{i} \rangle^{2}} = \langle y_{j} \rangle^{-2} (\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}})^{\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}})^{\frac{1}{2}} \le R^{-2} [\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}}].$$

Third, on the set $\{|y_i| \le R^2, |y_j| \ge R^2\}$, we have

$$U_j \hat{w}_i^{\text{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2} = \frac{R^{-1}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{3/2}} \left(\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}} \right)^{1/2} \left(\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}} \right)^{1/2} \lesssim R^{-4} [\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}} + \hat{v}_i^{\text{in}}].$$

• To prove (4.10), we divide it into three cases. First, on the set $\{|y_j| \leq R, |y_i| \geq R^2\}$, using (3.9), we get that $\langle y_i \rangle^{-3} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4} \lesssim R^{-2} \langle y_i \rangle^{-2} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4} \lesssim R^{-2} R_{ij}^{-2} \langle \lambda_i \rangle \langle y_j \rangle^{-4}$. Then on the set $\{|y_j| \leq R, |y_i| \geq R^2\}$, we have

$$U_j \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in}} \lesssim R^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in}}.$$

Second, on the set $\{R \leq |y_j| \leq R^2, |y_i| > R^2\}$, one has

$$U_j \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^3} = \left(\frac{R^2 \hat{v}_j^{\text{in}}}{\langle y_j \rangle^4}\right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_i \rangle}\right)^{1/2} \lesssim \frac{\hat{v}_j^{\text{in}}}{R^2} + \frac{\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}}{R^2}.$$

Third, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge R^2, |y_i| \ge R^2\}$, one has

$$U_j \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_j^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^3} = \frac{1}{\langle y_j \rangle} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_j \rangle} \right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_i \rangle} \right)^{1/2} \lesssim \frac{\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}}{R^4} + \frac{\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}}}{R^4}.$$

• To prove (4.11), we divide it into three cases. First, on the set $\{|y_j| \le R^2\} \cap \{|y_j| \le \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$, similar the first case in the proof of (4.4), we have

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\rm in} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j^4 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\rm in}.$$

Second, on the set $\{|y_j| \leq R^2\} \cap \{|y_j| \geq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \leq R^2\}$, similar to the second case in the proof of (4.4), we have

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\rm in} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \lesssim \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} \hat{v}_i^{\rm in}.$$

Third, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \ge R^2\}$, we have

$$U_{i}\hat{w}_{j}^{\text{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}R^{-4}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{2}} = \frac{R^{-\frac{3}{2}}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{1/4}\langle y_{j}\rangle} \frac{\lambda_{j}}{\lambda_{i}} (\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}})^{1/4} (\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}})^{3/4}$$
$$\lesssim R^{-2}R_{ij}^{-1}\sqrt{\lambda_{j}/\lambda_{i}} [\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}}] \lesssim R^{-2}\langle z_{ij}\rangle^{-1} [\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{out}}].$$

• To prove (4.12), we divide it into three cases. First, on the set $\{R^2 \leq |y_j| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$, using (3.9), we can obtain $\langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{-3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-4} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \langle y_j \rangle^{-3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^3 \langle y_j \rangle^{-5}$. Then

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-2} \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\lambda_j^4 R^{-2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^5} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\text{out}}.$$

Second, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i} R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \le R^2\}$, we obtain that $\langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{-3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-3} (\lambda_i/\lambda_j)^{3/2} \langle y_i \rangle^{-4}$. Then

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^3} \lesssim R_{ij}^{-1} \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{1/2} \hat{v}_i^{\text{in}} \approx \langle z_{ij} \rangle^{-1} \hat{v}_i^{\text{in}},$$

Third, on the set $\{|y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2, |y_i| \ge R^2\}$, we have

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^3} \lesssim \frac{1}{\langle y_i \rangle} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_i \rangle} \right)^{1/2} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_j \rangle} \right)^{1/2} \lesssim R^{-2} [\hat{v}_j^{\text{out}} + \hat{v}_i^{\text{out}}].$$

• Now we prove (4.13). On the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| \leq \varepsilon\}$, we have $\langle y_j \rangle^2 = 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i - z_{ij}|^2 \leq 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 \varepsilon^2$. Consequently,

$$U_{i}\hat{w}_{j}^{\text{in}} \approx \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}R^{-4}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{2}} = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}\langle y_{j}\rangle^{2}}{\lambda_{j}^{2}\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}} \lesssim ((\lambda_{i}/\lambda_{j})^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{in}},$$
$$U_{i}\hat{w}_{j}^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}R^{-2}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{3}} = \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}\langle y_{j}\rangle^{2}}{\lambda_{j}^{2}\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \hat{v}_{j}^{\text{out}} \lesssim ((\lambda_{i}/\lambda_{j})^{2} + \varepsilon^{2})\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{out}}.$$

• To prove (4.14), we use idea similar to the proof of (4.6). On the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| > \varepsilon\}$, we have $\langle y_j \rangle \ge \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\varepsilon}{1+|z_{ij}|+\varepsilon} \langle y_i \rangle \gtrsim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\varepsilon}{\langle z_{ij} \rangle} \langle y_i \rangle$. Then

$$\hat{w}_j^{\text{in}} = \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij} \rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \frac{\lambda_i^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2}.$$

On the support of \hat{w}_j^{in} , we also have $R^2 \gtrsim \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{\varepsilon}{\langle z_{ij} \rangle} \langle y_i \rangle$. Then

$$\lambda_i^2 R^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{-2} \lesssim \hat{w}_i^{\text{in}} + R^{-2} \langle y_i \rangle \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}} \lesssim \hat{w}_i^{\text{in}} + \frac{\langle z_{ij} \rangle}{\varepsilon} \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}}.$$

Thus combining the above two inequalities, we get

$$\hat{w}_j^{\text{in}} \lesssim \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij} \rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^2 \hat{w}_i^{\text{in}} + \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij} \rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^3 \hat{w}_i^{\text{out}}.$$

For the other one \hat{w}_{j}^{out} , we have

$$\begin{split} \hat{w}_{j}^{\text{out}} &= \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}R^{-2}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{3}} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}R^{-2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{3}} \frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{j}} \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij}\rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^{3} \lesssim \frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{j}} \left(\frac{\langle z_{ij}\rangle}{\varepsilon}\right)^{3} \left[\frac{R^{2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle} \hat{w}_{i}^{\text{in}} + \hat{w}_{i}^{\text{out}}\right] \\ &\lesssim \langle z_{ij}\rangle^{3} \varepsilon^{-3} [\langle z_{ij}\rangle^{2} \hat{w}_{i}^{\text{in}} + \hat{w}_{i}^{\text{out}}]. \end{split}$$

• Now we prove (4.15). On the set $\{|y_i| > 2|z_{ij}| + M\}$, we have $\langle y_j \rangle^2 = 1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i - z_{ij}|^2 \le 2(\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i|^2$. Then

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\text{in(out)}} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2 \langle y_j \rangle^2}{\lambda_j^2 \langle y_i \rangle^4} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in(out)}} \lesssim \langle y_i \rangle^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in(out)}} \lesssim (|z_{ij}| + M)^{-2} \hat{v}_j^{\text{in(out)}}.$$

• Now we prove (4.16). On the set $\{|y_i| \le R^2, |y_j| \le R^2\}$, we have

$$U_i \hat{w}_j^{\rm in} \approx \frac{\lambda_i^2}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \le (\hat{v}_i^{\rm in})^{\frac{1}{2}} (\hat{v}_j^{\rm in})^{\frac{1}{2}} \lesssim \varepsilon^{-1} \hat{v}_i^{\rm in} + \varepsilon \hat{v}_j^{\rm in}.$$

• Now we prove (4.17). On the set $\{|y_i| \le R^2, |y_j| \ge R^2\}$, we have

$$U_{i}\hat{w}_{j}^{\text{out}} \approx \frac{\lambda_{i}^{2}}{\langle y_{i}\rangle^{4}} \frac{\lambda_{j}^{2}R^{-2}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle^{3}} \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda_{i}}{\lambda_{j}}\right)^{\frac{2}{5}} R^{\frac{4}{5}} (\hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}})^{\frac{2}{5}} \left(\frac{\hat{v}_{j}^{\text{out}}}{\langle y_{j}\rangle}\right)^{\frac{3}{5}} \\ \lesssim \langle z_{ij}\rangle^{\frac{4}{5}} [\varepsilon^{-\frac{3}{2}} \hat{v}_{i}^{\text{in}} + \varepsilon \hat{v}_{j}^{\text{out}}].$$

In the following proposition, we derive a rough C^0 estimate of ρ . Note that \overline{W} decays much faster than W. It shows that the behavior of ρ at infinity can be bounded by $||h||_{**}W(x)$ up to some constant and small error. It will be used in Lemma 5.1 to exclude the blow-up points going to infinity.

Proposition 4.3. There exists a constant $C(n, \nu)$ such that, for any h with $||h||_{**} < \infty$, if ϕ satisfies

$$\Delta \phi + p \sigma^{p-1} \phi = h \quad in \quad \mathbb{R}^n,$$

then the following inequality holds for any M > 1,

$$\frac{|\phi(x)|}{W(x)} \le C(n,\nu) \left(\|h\|_{**} + M^{3n} \|\phi\|_* \frac{\overline{W}(x)}{W(x)} + M^4 R^{-2} + M^{-1} \right), \quad (4.18)$$

where $\overline{W}(x) = \sum_{i \neq j} (\bar{w}_i^{\rm in}(x) + \bar{w}_i^{\rm out}(x))$ is defined by

$$\bar{w}_{i}^{in}(x) = \begin{cases} \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n} \langle y_{i} \rangle^{-4} \chi_{\{|y_{i}| \leq R\}}, & n \geq 7, \\ \lambda_{i}^{2} R^{-4} \langle y_{i} \rangle^{-3} (1 + \log \langle y_{i} \rangle) \chi_{\{|y_{i}| \leq R^{2}\}}, & n = 6, \end{cases} \\ \bar{w}_{i}^{out}(x) = \begin{cases} \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4} \langle y_{i} \rangle^{2-n} \log \langle y_{i} \rangle \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > R\}}, & n \geq 7, \\ \lambda_{i}^{2} R^{-2} \langle y_{i} \rangle^{-4} \log \langle y_{i} \rangle \chi_{\{|y_{i}| > R^{2}\}}, & n = 6. \end{cases}$$

Proof. By the Green's representation, we have

$$\phi(\tilde{x}) = C(n) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} \left(p \sigma^{p-1}(x) \phi(x) - h(x) \right) dx$$

=: $P_1 + P_2$,

where C(n) is a positive dimensional constant. Applying Lemma 3.6, we get

$$|P_2| \le C(n) ||h||_{**} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} V(x) dx \lesssim ||h||_{**} W(\tilde{x}).$$

Consider P_1 . Let us assume $n \ge 7$. Using $\sigma^{p-1} \lesssim \sum_{i'=1}^{\nu} U_{i'}^{p-1}$, we have

$$|P_{1}| \lesssim \|\phi\|_{*} \sum_{i,i'=1}^{\nu} \int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} U_{i'}^{p-1}(x) (w_{i}^{\text{in}}(x) + w_{i}^{\text{out}}(x)) dx$$

$$=: \|\phi\|_{*} \sum_{i,i'=1}^{\nu} (A_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + A_{ii'}^{\text{out}})(\tilde{x}).$$
(4.19)

Consider A_{ii}^{in} (that is i' = i). We use a similar trick in estimating the last line of (3.20), that is, dividing into two cases according to the relation of \tilde{y}_i and R, and applying Lemma A.7 to get

$$\begin{split} A_{ii}^{\mathrm{in}}(\tilde{x}) &= n(n-2)\lambda_{i}^{\frac{n+2}{2}}R^{2-n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|\tilde{x}-x|^{2-n}\langle y_{i}\rangle^{-6}\chi_{\{|y_{i}|\leq R\}}dx\\ &\approx \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{2-n}\int_{\mathbb{R}^{n}}|\tilde{y}_{i}-y_{i}|^{2-n}\langle y_{i}\rangle^{-6}\chi_{\{|y_{i}|\leq R\}}dy_{i}\\ &\lesssim \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{2-n}\left[\langle \tilde{y}_{i}\rangle^{-4}\chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_{i}|\leq 2R\}}+R^{n-6}\langle \tilde{y}_{i}\rangle^{2-n}\chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_{i}|\geq 2R\}}\right]\\ &\lesssim \bar{w}_{i}^{\mathrm{in}}(\tilde{x})+\bar{w}_{i}^{\mathrm{out}}(\tilde{x}). \end{split}$$

Similarly,

$$\begin{split} A_{ii}^{\text{out}}(\tilde{x}) &\approx \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{-4} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{y}_i - y_i|^{2-n} \langle y_i \rangle^{-n} \chi_{\{|y_i| > R\}} dy_i \\ &\lesssim \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \left[R^{-2-n} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \le R/2\}} + R^{-4} \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{2-n} \log \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \ge R/2\}} \right] \\ &\lesssim \bar{w}_i^{\text{in}}(\tilde{x}) + \bar{w}_i^{\text{out}}(\tilde{x}). \end{split}$$

Consider the case $i' \neq i$. Let us first assume $\lambda_i < \lambda_{i'}$. Using (4.1), (4.2) and Lemma 3.6, we have

$$A_{ii'}^{\mathrm{in}} + A_{ii'}^{\mathrm{out}} \lesssim R^{-2} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} V(x) \lesssim R^{-2} W(\tilde{x}).$$

If $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i'}$ and $\langle z_{ii'} \rangle > M$, then using (4.3) and (4.4), we have

$$A_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + A_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \lesssim (R^{-2} + M^{-2}) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} V(x) \lesssim (R^{-2} + M^{-2}) W(\tilde{x}).$$

If $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i'}$ and $\langle z_{ii'} \rangle \leq M$, we apply (4.3), (4.5) and (4.6) (taking $\varepsilon = M^{-1}$) to get

$$\begin{split} A_{iii'}^{\text{in}} + A_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \\ &\lesssim ((\lambda_{i'}/\lambda_i)^2 + M^{-2})W(\tilde{x}) + M^{3n-14} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\tilde{x} - x|^{2-n} U_{i'}^{p-1}(w_{i'}^{\text{in}} + w_{i'}^{\text{out}}) \\ &\lesssim (M^4 R^{-4} + M^{-2})W(\tilde{x}) + M^{3n} [A_{i'i'} \text{in} + A_{i'i'} \text{out}](\tilde{x}) \\ &\lesssim (M^4 R^{-4} + M^{-2})W(\tilde{x}) + M^{3n} \overline{W}(\tilde{x}). \end{split}$$

Here we used $R_{i'i}\sqrt{\lambda_{i'}/\lambda_i} \approx \langle z_{i'i} \rangle$ when $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i'}$ to get $\lambda_{i'}/\lambda_i \lesssim R^{-2}M^2$.

Consolidating the estimates of P_1 and P_2 , we can prove the proposition when the dimension $n \ge 7$.

When the dimension n = 6, the proof is similar to that for $n \ge 7$. We point out modifications without giving details. One shall use \hat{w}_i^{in} and \hat{w}_i^{out} in (4.19) to define $\hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{in}}$ and $\hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{out}}$. Similarly,

$$\begin{split} \hat{A}_{ii}^{\mathrm{in}} &\approx \lambda_i^4 R^{-4} \int_{|y_i| \leq R^2} |\tilde{x} - x|^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{-6} dx \\ &\lesssim \lambda_i^2 R^{-4} \left[\langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-4} (1 + \log \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle) \chi_{\{|y_i| \leq R^2\}} + (\log R) \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-4} \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \geq R^2\}} \right], \\ \hat{A}_{ii}^{\mathrm{out}} &\approx \lambda_i^4 R^{-2} \int_{|y_i| \geq R^2} |\tilde{x} - x|^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{-6} dx \\ &\lesssim \lambda_i^2 R^{-2} \left[R^{-8} \chi_{\{|y_i| \leq R^2\}} + \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle^{-4} (1 + \log \langle \tilde{y}_i \rangle) \chi_{\{|\tilde{y}_i| \geq R^2\}} \right]. \end{split}$$

Consider $i' \neq i$. If $\lambda_i < \lambda_{i'}$, then (4.9) and (4.10) imply $\hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + \hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \lesssim R^{-2}W$. If $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i'}$ and $\langle z_{i'i} \rangle > M$, then (4.11) and (4.12) imply that $\hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + \hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \lesssim (R^{-2} + M^{-1})W$. If $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_{i'}$ and $\langle z_{i'i} \rangle \leq M$, then (4.13) and (4.14) imply that $\hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + \hat{A}_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \lesssim (M^4 R^{-4} + M^{-2})W + M^8 \overline{W}$.

4.2. Configuration of bubbles tree.

Denote $I = \{1, \ldots, \nu\}$. Suppose that $\left\{U_i^{(k)} := U[z_i^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}] : i \in I\right\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ is a sequence of ν bubbles with the interaction $Q^{(k)} = \max\{q_{ij}^{(k)} : \forall i, j \in I, i \neq j\} \rightarrow 0$ as $k \rightarrow \infty$, or equivalently,

$$R^{(k)} = \frac{1}{2} \min\{R_{ij}^{(k)} : \forall i, j \in I, i \neq j\} \to \infty \quad \text{as} \quad k \to \infty.$$

$$(4.20)$$

By reordering them and taking subsequences (for finitely many times), we can always assume

$$\lambda_1^{(k)} \le \dots \le \lambda_{\nu}^{(k)},\tag{4.21}$$

either
$$\lim_{k \to \infty} z_{ij}^{(k)}$$
 exists or $\lim_{k \to \infty} |z_{ij}^{(k)}| = \infty$ (4.22)

where $z_{ij}^{(k)} := \lambda_i^{(k)} (z_j^{(k)} - z_i^{(k)})$ for $j \in I \setminus \{i\}$.

There is a geometric interpretation of $z_{ij}^{(k)}$. In the rescaled z_i -centered coordinates $y_i = \lambda_i(x - z_i)$, we see that $U_i(x) = \lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}U(y_i)$, where U(y) = U[0,1](y). Here we omit the superscript (k) to ease the notation. That is, U_i is the $\lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}$ multiple of the standard bubble. Under y_i -coordinates, the other bubbles become new ones with

$$U_j(x) = \left(\frac{(n(n-2))^{1/2}\lambda_j}{1 + (\lambda_j/\lambda_i)^2 |y_i - z_{ij}|^2}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} = \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} U[z_{ij}, \lambda_j/\lambda_i](y_i).$$

Then z_{ij} is the new center of U_j , $j \in I \setminus \{i\}$. Under y_i -coordinates and omitting $\lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}$ factor, we obtain a new set of ν bubbles $\{U[0,1], U[z_{ij}, \lambda_j/\lambda_i] : j \in I \setminus \{i\}\}$. It is easy to check that $R_{i'j'}$ remains unchanged in this rescaling for all $i', j' \in I$.

We define a partial order \prec on $I = \{1, \dots, \nu\}$ as

$$i \prec j \iff i < j \text{ and } \lim_{k \to \infty} z_{ij}^{(k)} \text{ exists},$$
 (4.23)
 $i \preceq j \iff i \prec j \text{ or } i = j.$

Lemma 4.4. \prec *is a strict partial order.*

Proof. We can see that it is irreflexive and asymmetry. We only need to check the transitivity. Suppose that $i \prec j$ and $j \prec l$. It follows from the definition that i < j < l and $z_{ij}^{(k)} = \lambda_i^{(k)}(z_j^{(k)} - z_i^{(k)})$ and $z_{jl}^{(k)} = \lambda_j^{(k)}(z_l^{(k)} - z_j^{(k)})$ are both uniformly bounded as $k \to \infty$. Then, using interpolation and $\lambda_i^{(k)} \leq \lambda_j^{(k)}$, we get $|z_{il}^{(k)}|$ is also uniformly bounded. That is

$$|z_{il}^{(k)}| \le \lambda_i^{(k)} |z_j^{(k)} - z_i^{(k)}| + \lambda_i^{(k)} |z_l^{(k)} - z_j^{(k)}| \le |z_{ij}^{(k)}| + |z_{jl}^{(k)}|.$$

Then by assumption (4.22), we know $\lim_{k\to\infty} z_{il}^{(k)}$ exists. Thus $i \prec l$.

Lemma 4.5. Suppose that $\{U_i^{(k)} : i = 1, \dots, \nu\}$ is a sequence of ν bubbles satisfying (4.20), (4.21) and (4.22). Then

$$C^* := 1 + \max_{i,j \in I, k \ge 0} \{ |z_{ij}^{(k)}| : i \prec j \} < \infty.$$
(4.24)

Moreover,

$$i \prec j \quad \Longleftrightarrow \quad \sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}} \le R_{ij}^{(k)} \le C^* \sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}}, \quad \forall k \ge 0,$$
(4.25)

$$i \not\prec j \text{ and } j \not\prec i \quad \Leftrightarrow \quad \sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}} + \sqrt{\lambda_i^{(k)}/\lambda_j^{(k)}} = o(1)R_{ij}^{(k)}.$$
 (4.26)

Here o(1) denotes some quantity that goes to 0 as $k \to \infty$. We will call *i* and *j* incomparable in the case (4.26).

Proof. It is easy to see that C^* is finite by the definition of \prec relation (4.23). Suppose that $i \prec j$. Then $\lambda_i^{(k)} \leq \lambda_i^{(k)}$ and thus

$$\begin{aligned} R_{ij}^{(k)} &= \max\{\sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}}, \sqrt{\lambda_i^{(k)}\lambda_j^{(k)}} | z_i^{(k)} - z_j^{(k)} | \} \\ &= \sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}} \max\{1, |z_{ij}^{(k)}|\} \le C^* \sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}}. \end{aligned}$$

Conversely, by $R_{ij}^{(k)} \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$, we have $\lambda_j^{(k)} > \lambda_i^{(k)}$ when k is large enough. Thus i < j. The above inequality shows that $|z_{ij}^{(k)}|$ is uniformly bounded. Thus by (4.22) and (4.23), we have $i \prec j$.

If $i \not\prec j$ and $j \not\prec i$, WLOG, assume $\lambda_i^{(k)} \leq \lambda_j^{(k)}$, then $z_{ij}^{(k)}$ must be unbounded, thus

$$\sqrt{\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)}} \le o(1)R_{ij}^{(k)}.$$

Recall that a *tree* is a partially ordered set, say (T, \prec) , such that for any $t \in T$, the set $\{s \in T : s \prec t\}$ is well-ordered by the relation \prec . The following lemma shows that I can be decomposed into several trees.

Lemma 4.6. For any sequences of $\{U_i^{(k)} : i = 1, \dots, \nu\}$ satisfying (4.20), (4.21) and (4.22), there exists α^* (depends on the sequences) such that $I = \{1, \dots, \nu\}$ can be partitioned into T_{α} , $\alpha = 1, \dots, \alpha^*$, where each T_{α} is a tree.

Proof. Fixing any i_0 , let us prove the set $\{s \in I : s \prec i_0\}$ is a well-ordered set. That is, if $s \prec i_0$, $t \prec i_0$, and $s \neq t$, then either $s \prec t$ or $t \prec s$. In fact, by the assumption and the definition of \prec relation in (4.23), we obtain

$$\lim_{k \to \infty} z_{si_0}^{(k)}$$
 and $\lim_{k \to \infty} z_{ti_0}^{(k)}$ both exist

WLOG, assume s > t, then $\lambda_s^{(k)} \ge \lambda_t^{(k)}$. Since $z_{ts}^{(k)} = \lambda_t^{(k)}(z_s^{(k)} - z_t^{(k)})$, then

$$|z_{ts}^{(k)}| \le \lambda_t^{(k)} |z_{i_0}^{(k)} - z_t^{(k)}| + \lambda_t^{(k)} |z_s^{(k)} - z_{i_0}^{(k)}| \le |z_{ti_0}^{(k)}| + |z_{si_0}^{(k)}| < \infty$$

as $k \to \infty$. This implies that $t \prec s$.

Suppose that the partially ordered set (I, \prec) has α^* minimal elements, say they $r_1, \cdots, r_{\alpha^*}$. Define $T_{\alpha} = \{i \in I : r_{\alpha} \leq i\}$. The above proof shows that each T_{α} is a tree with root r_{α} .

Moreover, these T_{α} are mutually disjoint sets. For if $i \in T_{\alpha} \cap T_{\alpha'}$, $\alpha \neq \alpha'$, then the above proof shows that either $r_{\alpha} \prec r_{\alpha'}$ or $r_{\alpha'} \prec r_{\alpha}$, which contradicts the fact that r_{α} and $r_{\alpha'}$ are minimal elements. Thus $\{T_{\alpha} : \alpha = 1, \dots, \alpha^*\}$ is a partition of I. This completes the proof.

For each $i \in I$, define the set $S(i) = \{j \in I : i \prec j\}$ (which means the successor of i), that is

$$S(i) = \{ j \in I : i < j, \lim_{k \to \infty} z_{ij}^{(k)} \text{ exists} \}.$$
 (4.27)

One can have a clear picture of the sequence in each $y_i^{(k)} = \lambda_i^{(k)}(x - z_i^{(k)})$ coordinates.

On the one hand, for any $j \in S(i)$, it is clear that $U_j^{(k)}$ are bubbles "higher"(i.e. $\lambda_j^{(k)} \ge \lambda_i^{(k)}$) than $U_i^{(k)}$ and becomes higher and higher than it and eventually "singular" at $\lim_{k\to\infty} z_{ij}^{(k)}$ as $k \to \infty$, since the interaction of them must become smaller and smaller as $k \to \infty$. Moreover, if $|z_{ij}^{(k)}| < 1$, then $U_i^{(k)}$ and $U_j^{(k)}$ form a bubbling tower, otherwise they form a bubbling cluster. In both cases, one must have $\lambda_j^{(k)}/\lambda_i^{(k)} \to \infty$ for such j, because the interaction of all bubbles is vanishing as $k \to \infty$.

On the other hand, for any $j \notin S(i)$, either $U_j^{(k)}$ is "lower" than $U_i^{(k)}$ or $U_j^{(k)}$ escapes to infinity in $y_i^{(k)}$ coordinates. These bubbles are benign in the limiting process. More precisely,

Lemma 4.7. Fix any M > 0. If $j \notin S(i)$, then as $k \to \infty$,

$$U_{j}^{(k)}(x) = o(1)U_{i}^{(k)}(x), \qquad (4.28)$$
$$w_{j}^{in}(x) + w_{j}^{out}(x) = o(1)w_{i}^{in}, \\v_{j}^{in}(x) + v_{j}^{out}(x) = o(1)v_{i}^{in},$$

uniformly on $\{x : |y_i^{(k)}| \le M\}$. Here o(1) denotes some quantity that goes to 0 as $k \to \infty$. Consequently,

$$\sum_{j=1}^{\nu} U_j^{(k)} = \sum_{j \in S(i)} U_j^{(k)} + (1+o(1))U_i^{(k)},$$

$$W(x) = \sum_{j \in S(i)} \left(w_j^{in}(x) + w_j^{out}(x) \right) + (1+o(1))w_i^{in}(x),$$

$$V(x) = \sum_{j \in S(i)} \left(v_j^{in}(x) + v_j^{out}(x) \right) + (1+o(1))v_i^{in}(x),$$

(4.29)

uniformly on $\{x: |y_i^{(k)}| \leq M\}$ as $k \to \infty$.

The above statements also hold replacing $w^{in(out)}$ and $v^{in(out)}$ by $\hat{w}^{in(out)}$ and $\hat{v}^{in(out)}$ respectively in dimension n = 6.

Proof. In fact, $j \notin S(i)$ means either $j \prec i$ or j and i are incomparable. We shall prove two cases respectively. We will omit the superscript (k) for various notations, like $\lambda_i^{(k)}, y_i^{(k)}, U_i^{(k)}, R^{(k)}$, and $R_{ij}^{(k)}$. • In the case $j \prec i$, one must have $\lambda_i / \lambda_j \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$. Recall that

• In the case $j \prec i$, one must have $\lambda_i/\lambda_j \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$. Recall that $U_i(x) \approx \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \langle y_i \rangle^{2-n}$ and $U_j(x) \approx \lambda_j^{(n-2)/2} \langle y_j \rangle^{2-n}$. Thus $U_j(x) \lesssim \lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} =$

 $o(1)\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \lesssim o(1)\langle M \rangle^{n-2}U_i(x)$ on the set $\{y_i \leq M\}$ as $k \to \infty$. The support of w_j^{out} does not intersect $\{|y_i| \leq M\}$, thus we only need to consider w_j^{in} . We have

$$\frac{w_j^{\text{in}}}{w_i^{\text{in}}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \frac{\langle y_i \rangle^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim M^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \to 0.$$
(4.30)

The proof for v-weights is completely analogous and we omit it.

• If *i* and *j* are incomparable, clearly we have $R_{ij} = \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}|z_{ij}|$ and $|z_{ij}| \rightarrow \infty$ as $k \rightarrow \infty$. Recall that $y_j = \lambda_j/\lambda_i(y_i - z_{ij})$, then $|y_j| \geq \frac{1}{2}\lambda_j/\lambda_i|z_{ij}| = \frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}$ on the set $\{|y_i| \leq M\}$ when *k* is large enough. Then

$$\frac{U_j(x)}{U_i(x)} \lesssim \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} \frac{1+M^2}{(R_{ij})^2 \lambda_j / \lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \lesssim \left(\frac{1+M^2}{(R_{ij})^2}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \to 0.$$

If $\lambda_j/\lambda_i > 1$, then the support of $w_j^{\text{in}}(x)$ does not intersect $\{x : |y_i| \leq M\}$. If $\lambda_j/\lambda_i \leq 1$, then

$$\frac{w_j^{\text{in}}}{w_i^{\text{in}}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \frac{\langle y_i \rangle^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} \lesssim M^2 \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-6}{2}} \langle z_{ij} \rangle \to 0.$$

For w_j^{out} , by (4.26) we have

$$\frac{w_j^{\text{out}}}{w_i^{\text{in}}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{n-6} \frac{\langle y_i \rangle^2}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}} \lesssim M^2 \frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i} R_{ij}^{-2} \to 0,$$

This finishes the proof of the statement about w-weights in (4.29). The proof for v-weights is completely analogous and we omit it.

By the same argument, it is easy to see that all the above assertions hold for n = 6 after some minor modifications.

5. POINT-WISE ESTIMATE FOR THE MAIN PART OF ERROR FUNCTION

This section is the central part of this paper. We shall establish the C^0 estimates for the main part of ρ , i.e., ρ_0 , see Proposition 5.4, which comes from the interaction between bubbles. The crucial part is to obtain a priori estimate in Lemma 5.1.

5.1. A priori estimate. Suppose that $\{U_i^{(k)} : i = 1, \dots, \nu\}$ is a sequence of ν bubbles satisfying (4.20), (4.21), and (4.22). Recall the definition of $S(i) = \{j \in I : i \prec j\}$, see (4.27). Recall that $y_i^{(k)} = \lambda_i^{(k)}(x - z_i^{(k)}), z_{ij}^{(k)} = \lambda_i^{(k)}(z_j^{(k)} - z_i^{(k)})$ and the definition of C^* , see (4.24). Let us define

$$\Omega^{(k)} := \bigcup_{i \in I} \left\{ x : |y_i^{(k)}| \le L \right\},
\Omega_i^{(k)} := \left\{ x : |y_i^{(k)}| \le L, |y_i^{(k)} - z_{ij}^{(k)}| \ge \epsilon_1, \forall j \in S(i) \right\}$$
(5.1)

with a large constant $L = L(n, \nu, C^*)$ and a small constant $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_1(n, \nu, C^*)$ to be determined later. The domain $\Omega_i^{(k)}$ is where $U_i^{(k)}$ dominates over other bubbles, and there is no "singular bubble" in $\Omega_i^{(k)}$. When k is large enough, one can see that

- (1) For all $j \in S(i)$, $\{|y_i^{(k)} z_{ij}^{(k)}| \le \epsilon_1\} \subset \{|y_i^{(k)}| \le L\}$. Moreover, $\{|y_j^{(k)}| \le L\} \subset \{|y_i^{(k)} z_{ij}^{(k)}| \le \frac{1}{2}\epsilon_1\}.$
- (2) If *i* and *j* are incomparable (that is, $i \not\prec j$ and $j \not\prec i$), then $\Omega_i^{(k)}$ and $\Omega_j^{(k)}$ are disjoint.

See Figure 3 for an illustration of $\Omega_i^{(k)}$ in a simple case.

Lemma 5.1. There exist positive constants δ_0 and C, independent of δ , such that for all $\delta \leq \delta_0$, if $\{U_i\}_{1 \leq i \leq \nu}$ is a δ -interacting bubble family and ϕ solves the equation

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi + p \sigma^{p-1} \phi = h, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} \phi Z_i^a = 0, \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; \ a = 1, \cdots, n+1, \end{cases}$$
(5.2)

for some h with $||h||_{**} < \infty$. Then

$$\|\phi\|_* \le C \|h\|_{**}.$$
(5.3)

Proof. We use contradiction arguments to prove (5.3). Suppose that there exist a sequence of bubbles $\left\{U_i^{(k)} = U[z_i^{(k)}, \lambda_i^{(k)}] : i \in I\right\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ with interaction no more than 1/k, and a sequence of functions $h_k(x)$ and $\phi_k(x)$ satisfying (5.2) such that $\|\phi_k\|_* \ge k\|h_k\|_{**}$. Replacing $\phi_k(x)$ by $\phi_k(x)/\|\phi_k\|_*$ and $h_k(x)$ by $h_k(x)/\|\phi_k\|_*$, we can assume $\|\phi_k\|_* = 1$ and $\|h_k\|_{**} \le 1/k \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$.

Going to a subsequence if necessary, we assume that $\{U_i^{(k)} : i \in I\}_{k=1}^{\infty}$ satisfies (4.20), (4.21), and (4.22). Thus Lemma 4.7 holds for such sequence. We can associate a sequence of weight functions V(x) and W(x) to this sequence. We shall prove that for this sequence there holds $\phi_k(x) < W(x)$ on \mathbb{R}^n when k is large enough. This contradicts the fact $\|\phi_k\|_* = 1$ for any k. We first assume $n \ge 7$. We divide \mathbb{R}^n into the following three regions: core, neck, and exterior.

Case 1: Exterior region $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$. Applying Proposition 4.3, there exists $C(n, \nu)$ such that for any $M \ge 1$ the following holds:

$$\frac{|\phi_k(x)|}{W(x)} \le C(n,\nu) \left(\|h_k\|_{**} + M^{3n} \frac{\overline{W}(x)}{W(x)} + M^4 R^{-2} + M^{-1} \right).$$

Now choose $M = M(n, \nu)$ sufficiently large such that $C(n, \nu)M^{-1} < (100\nu)^{-1}$. Note that \bar{w}_i^{in} and \bar{w}_i^{out} decay faster than w_i^{in} and w_i^{out} . More precisely, on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$,

$$\bar{w}_i^{\text{in}} \le 2L^{-2}w_i^{\text{in}}, \quad \bar{w}_i^{\text{out}} \le 2L^{-2}(\log L)\,w_i^{\text{out}}.$$

Taking $L = L(n, \nu, C^*)$ sufficiently large such that

$$2C(n,\nu)M^{3n}L^{-2}(1+\log L) \le (100\nu)^{-1},$$
(5.4)

we shall have $C(n,\nu)M^{3n}\overline{W}(x) < \frac{1}{100\nu}W(x)$ for $x \notin \Omega^{(k)}$. Since we assume $\|h_k\|_{**} \to 0$, then as $k \to \infty$ we have

$$\frac{|\phi_k(x)|}{W(x)} \le o(1) + \frac{1}{50\nu}, \quad \text{ on } \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega^{(k)}.$$

Case 2: Core region $\cup_{i \in I} \Omega_i^{(k)}$. We shall prove $|\phi_k|(x) = o(1)W(x)$ as $k \to \infty$ on this region.

Suppose not. Then there exist $\epsilon_* > 0$ and a sequence $x_k \in \bigcup_{i \in I} \Omega_i^{(k)}$ such that $\phi_k(x_k) > \epsilon_* W(x_k)$. Going to a subsequence if necessary, we assume that $x_k \in \Omega_{i_0}^{(k)}$ for some fixed $i_0 \in I$ when k is large enough. As explained before, $\Omega_{i_0}^{(k)}$ is the domain where $U_{i_0}^{(k)}$ has domination. One can use a blow-up argument to reach a contradiction. Define

$$\begin{cases} \tilde{\phi}_{k}(y) := W^{-1}(x_{k})\phi_{k}(y/\lambda_{i_{0}}^{(k)} + z_{i_{0}}^{(k)}) & \text{with } y = \lambda_{i_{0}}^{(k)}(x - z_{i_{0}}^{(k)}), \\ \tilde{h}_{k}(y) := (\lambda_{i_{0}}^{(k)})^{-2}W^{-1}(x_{k})h_{k}(y/\lambda_{i_{0}}^{(k)} + z_{i_{0}}^{(k)}), \\ \tilde{\sigma}_{k}(y) := U[0, 1](y) + \sum_{j \in I \setminus \{i_{0}\}} U[z_{i_{0}j}^{(k)}, \lambda_{j}^{(k)}/\lambda_{i_{0}}^{(k)}](y). \end{cases}$$
(5.5)

Then $\tilde{\phi}_k$ satisfies

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \tilde{\phi}_k(y) + p \tilde{\sigma}_k^{p-1}(y) \tilde{\phi}_k(y) = \tilde{h}_k(y) & \text{ in } \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \int U^{p-1} Z^a \tilde{\phi}_k dy = 0, & 1 \le a \le n+1. \end{cases}$$

Here U = U[0,1](y) and $Z^a = Z^a(y) = Z_i^a(y)$ defined in (2.1) for z = 0 and $\lambda_i = 1$. Denote $\bar{z}_j = \lim_{k \to \infty} z_{i_0 j}^{(k)}$ and define

$$\mathcal{K}_{l} := \{ y : |y| \le l, \, |y - \bar{z}_{j}| \ge 1/l, \, \forall \, j \in S(i_{0}) \}.$$
(5.6)

Suppose $l \ge 2 \max\{L, \epsilon_1^{-1}\}$, it is easy to see that

$$\lambda_{i_0}^{(k)}(\Omega_{i_0}^{(k)} - z_{i_0}^{(k)}) = \{ y : y = \lambda_{i_0}^{(k)}(x - z_{i_0}^{(k)}), x \in \Omega_{i_0}^{(k)} \} \subset \subset \mathcal{K}_l$$

when k is large enough.

Claim 1. In each \mathcal{K}_l , it holds that, as $k \to \infty$,

$$\tilde{\sigma}_k(y) \rightarrow U[0,1](y), \quad |\tilde{h}_k|(y) \rightarrow 0$$

uniformly $y \in \mathcal{K}_l$. Moreover, we have

$$|\tilde{\phi}_k|(y) \lesssim \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} \left(\frac{L}{|y - \bar{z}_j|}\right)^{n-4} + L^2, \quad \forall y \in \mathcal{K}_l.$$
(5.7)

We postpone the proof of Claim 1 to the end of this subsection and finish the blow-up argument in Case 2. By the standard elliptic regularity theorem, the Claim 1 shows a subsequence of $\tilde{\phi}_k$ uniformly converges in each \mathcal{K}_l . Furthermore, by the

diagonal argument, let $l \to \infty$, we have a subsequence of $\tilde{\phi}_k$ converges to ϕ locally uniformly on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{\bar{z}_j : j \in S(i_0)\}$ which satisfies that

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \tilde{\phi} + pU^{p-1}\tilde{\phi} = 0, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{\bar{z}_j : j \in S(i_0)\}, \\ |\tilde{\phi}|(y) \lesssim \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} \left(\frac{L}{|y-\bar{z}_j|}\right)^{n-4} + L^2, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{\bar{z}_j : j \in S(i_0)\}, \\ \int U^{p-1} Z^a \tilde{\phi} dy = 0, & 1 \le a \le n+1. \end{cases}$$

Notice that each singular \bar{z}_j is removable since the singularity near \bar{z}_j is strictly "less" than that of Green's function. Therefore $\tilde{\phi}$ satisfies the equation on the whole \mathbb{R}^n . By the orthogonality condition and non-degeneracy of Aubin-Talenti bubbles, we get $\tilde{\phi} \equiv 0$. However, since $|\xi_k| := |\lambda_{i_0}^{(k)}(x_k - z_{i_0}^{(k)})| \le L$ and $|\xi_k - z_{i_0j}^{(k)}| \ge \epsilon_1$, going to a subsequence if necessary, then $\lim_{k\to\infty} \xi_k = \xi_\infty \notin \{\bar{z}_j : j \in S(i_0)\}$ and consequently $\tilde{\phi}(\xi_\infty) \ge \epsilon_* > 0$. This is a contradiction.



FIGURE 3. Illustration for the blow-up regions of a simple bubble configuration. The solid circles denote $\{y_i = L\}$ for $i = 1, \dots, 4$. The dashed circles mean $\{|y_1 - z_{1j}| = \epsilon_1\}$. The shaded regions constitute A_1 .

Case 3: Neck region $\Omega^{(k)} \setminus \left(\bigcup_{i \in I} \Omega_i^{(k)} \right)$. In this case, we can not use a blow-up argument directly, because we do not know which bubble will dominate others. Fortunately, this set is a *narrow* domain (see the following $A_i^{(k)}$ in y_i -coordinates), we will construct some barrier functions and use the maximum principle to prove $|\phi_k(x)| \leq W(x)/2$ as $k \to \infty$.

Note that $\Omega^{(k)} \setminus \left(\bigcup_{i \in I} \Omega_i^{(k)} \right) = \bigcup_{i \in I} A_i^{(k)}$ where $A_i^{(k)}$ is defined by

$$A_i^{(k)} = \bigcup_{j \in S(i)} \{ x : |y_i^{(k)} - z_{ij}^{(k)}| \le \epsilon_1 \} \setminus \bigcup_{j \in S(i)} \{ x : |y_j^{(k)}| < L \}.$$
(5.8)

One can interpret $A_i^{(k)}$ as the union of the neck regions of $U_j^{(k)}$ with $j \in S(i)$. See Figure 3 for $A_i^{(k)}$ in a simple case. We have the following observations.

- (1) $x \in \partial A_i^{(k)}$ implies that either x satisfies $|y_i^{(k)} z_{ij}^{(k)}| = \epsilon_1$ or $|y_j^{(k)}| = L$ for some $j \in S(i)$. In the first case, $x \in \partial \Omega_i^{(k)}$, and in the second case, $x \in \partial \Omega_j^{(k)}.$
- (2) $A_i^{(k)}$ are disjoint from $A_j^{(k)}$ for any $j \neq i$.

To construct a barrier function, we need to modify the weight functions W and V in two steps. First, we need to smooth functions W and V to derive some differential inequality because they are piece-wise defined. We introduce the following function

$$F(a,b) = \frac{a+b}{2} - \sqrt{\left(\frac{a-b}{2}\right)^2 + \frac{1}{4}ab}.$$
(5.9)

It can be considered as a smooth 1/4-approximation of min $\{a, b\}$. It satisfies that

$$\min\{a, b\}/2 \le F(a, b) \le \min\{a, b\}.$$
(5.10)

Moreover, it is symmetric, 1-homogeneous, and concave (see [33]).

Second, on $A_i^{(k)}$, w_i^{in} is not a good candidate for barrier because it does not satisfy $\Delta_x w_i^{\text{in}} + pU_i^{p-1} w_i^{\text{in}} \leq -v_i^{\text{in}}$. We need to replace the weight w_i^{in} by \tilde{w}_i^{in} which is defined by

$$\tilde{w}_{i}^{\text{in}}(x) = \sum_{j \in S(i)} \lambda_{i}^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n} \left(1 + |z_{ij}^{(k)}|^{2} + \epsilon_{1}^{-2} |y_{i}^{(k)} - z_{ij}^{(k)}|^{2} \right)^{-1}.$$
 (5.11)

Claim 2. On $A_i^{(k)}$, it holds that

$$\frac{1}{3}w_i^{in} \le \tilde{w}_i^{in} \le 3\nu w_i^{in},\tag{5.12}$$

$$\Delta_x \tilde{w}_i^{in}(x) \le -\frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} v_i^{in}(x).$$
(5.13)

Note that \tilde{w}_i^{in} is comparable to w_i^{in} but has negatively large second-order derivatives. This is exactly where we need to use the narrow property of $A_i^{(k)}$. Now let us work on a particular $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$. Define the barrier function \tilde{W} by

$$\tilde{W}(x) = \sum_{j \in I \setminus \{i_0\}} \lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} F\left(\frac{R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}, \frac{R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}}\right) + \tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}}.$$
(5.14)

Using $w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}} = (1 + o(R^{-1}))\lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \min\{R^{4-n} \langle y_j \rangle^{-2}, R^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{2-n}\}$ and the above claim, we have $\tilde{W}(x) \approx W(x)$. Moreover, combining with (4.29), (5.10) and (5.12), we have

$$\frac{1}{4}W(x) \le \tilde{W}(x) \le 3\nu W(x) \quad on \ A_{i_0}^{(k)}.$$
(5.15)

More importantly, we have the following estimate of $\Delta_x \tilde{W}(x)$.

Claim 3. On $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$, we have

$$\Delta_x \tilde{W}(x) \le -(n-4)(1+o(1)) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (v_j^{i_n}(x) + v_j^{out}(x)) - \frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} v_{i_0}^{i_n}(x).$$

We also postpone the proofs of Claim 2 and Claim 3 to the end of this subsection. We will show that $\tilde{W}(x)$ is a super-solution to our problem in the region $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$. That is, for $\sigma_k = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^{(k)}$,

$$\Delta_x \tilde{W} + p\sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W} \le -V, \quad on \, A_{i_0}^{(k)}.$$
(5.16)

In the region $A_{i_0}^{(k)} \subset \{|y_{i_0}^{(k)}| \leq L\}$, by (4.28), $\sum_{j \in I \setminus S(i_0)} U_j = (1 + o(1))U_{i_0}$ for k large. Since $p \in (1, 2]$, we have $(\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i)^{p-1} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i^{p-1}$ for any $a_i \geq 0$. Thus, for k large,

$$\sigma_k^{p-1} \le \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^{p-1} \le \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} U_j^{p-1} + (1+o(1))U_{i_0}^{p-1}.$$

Consequently, thanks to (4.29) and (5.15), we have

$$\frac{1}{3\nu}\sigma_{k}^{p-1}\tilde{W} \leq \sum_{i,j\in S(i_{0})} U_{i}^{p-1}\left(w_{j}^{\text{in}}+w_{j}^{\text{out}}\right) + \sum_{j\in S(i_{0})} U_{j}^{p-1}\tilde{w}_{i_{0}}^{\text{in}} + (1+o(1))\left(U_{i_{0}}^{p-1}\sum_{j\in S(i_{0})}\left(w_{j}^{\text{in}}+w_{j}^{\text{out}}\right) + U_{i_{0}}^{p-1}\tilde{w}_{i_{0}}^{\text{in}}\right).$$
(5.17)

For the first term on the RHS of (5.17), if $\lambda_i \ge \lambda_j$, then we apply (4.1) and (4.2) in Lemma 4.1. If $\lambda_i < \lambda_j$, then we apply (4.3) and (4.7), since $|y_i| \ge L > 2C^*$ for $i \in S(i_0)$ and $x \in A_{i_0}^{(k)}$. Combining these two results, we have

$$U_i^{p-1} \left(w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}} \right) \lesssim (L^{-2} + o(1)) [v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}} + v_i^{\text{in}} + v_i^{\text{out}}].$$

For the second term on the RHS of (5.17), using (4.1), for $j \in S(i_0)$, we have

$$U_j^{p-1}\tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}} \approx U_j^{p-1}w_{i_0}^{\text{in}} = o(1)[v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}} + v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}].$$

For the third term, using (4.3) and (4.8), for $j \in S(i_0)$, we have

$$U_{i_0}^{p-1}\left(w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}}\right) \lesssim o(1)v_j^{\text{in}} + (C^*)^{\frac{2(n-6)}{n-2}} \left[\varepsilon^{-\frac{n-4}{2}} v_{i_0}^{\text{in}} + \varepsilon v_j^{\text{out}}\right]$$

for any $\varepsilon \in (0, 1)$. For the fourth term, using (5.12), we have

$$U_{i_0}^{p-1}\tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\mathrm{in}} \approx \lambda_{i_0}^2 \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} \tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\mathrm{in}} \lesssim \lambda_{i_0}^2 \langle y_i \rangle^{-4} w_{i_0}^{\mathrm{in}} \lesssim v_{i_0}^{\mathrm{in}}.$$

Plugging in the above four inequalities into (5.17), we have

$$\sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W} \lesssim \left((C^*)^{\frac{2(n-6)}{n-2}} \varepsilon + \frac{1}{L^2} + o(1) \right) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}}) + \left(\frac{(C^*)^2}{\varepsilon^{\frac{n-4}{2}}} + o(1) \right) v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}.$$

Combining this with Claim 3, we have

$$\Delta_x \tilde{W} + p\sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W}$$

$$\leq \left[-(n-4) + C((C^*)^{\frac{2(n-6)}{n-2}}\varepsilon + L^{-2}) + o(1) \right] \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}}) \\ + \left(C(C^*)^2 \varepsilon^{-\frac{n-4}{2}} + o(1) - \frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} \right) v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}$$

for some $C = C(n, \nu)$. Then we choose $L = L(n, \nu, C^*)$ large enough, $\varepsilon =$ $\varepsilon(n,\nu,C^*)$ small, and k large enough such that

$$\left[-(n-4) + C((C^*)^{\frac{2(n-6)}{n-2}}\varepsilon + L^{-2}) + o(1)\right] \le -1.$$
(5.18)

Then we choose $\epsilon_1 = \epsilon_1(n, \nu, C^*)$ small such that

$$\left(C(C^*)^2\varepsilon^{-\frac{n-4}{2}} + o(1) - \frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2}\right) \le -1.$$
(5.19)

This finishes the proof of (5.16). In the following, we will use the maximum prin-

ciple to prove $|\phi_k(x)| \leq \frac{1}{6\nu} \tilde{W}(x)$ on $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$. Denote $f_{\pm}(x) = \frac{1}{6\nu} \tilde{W} \pm \phi_k(x)$. Recall that $\Delta_x \phi_k + p\sigma_k^{p-1} = h_k$. Then, for k large enough, we have

$$\Delta_x f_{\pm} + p \sigma_k^{p-1} f_{\pm} \le -\frac{1}{6\nu} V \pm \|h_k\|_{**} V \le 0 \quad on \ A_{i_0}^{(k)}.$$
(5.20)

By the observation after (5.8), we see that $\partial A_{i_0}^{(k)} \subset \partial \Omega_{i_0}^{(k)} \cup \left(\bigcup_{j \in S(i_0)} \partial \Omega_j^{(k)} \right).$ It follows from the conclusion of Case 2 and (5.15) that $f_{\pm}(x) \ge 0$ on $\partial A_{i_0}^{(k)}$ for k large. Let us show $f_{\pm}(x) \ge 0$ in $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$ by the maximum principle.

Consider $q(x) = f_+(x)/\tilde{W}(x)$. Then

$$\Delta_x g(x) = -2\nabla g(x) \cdot \frac{\nabla \tilde{W}(x)}{\tilde{W}(x)} + \frac{1}{\tilde{W}(x)} \left(\Delta_x f_{\pm} - \frac{\Delta_x \tilde{W}(x)}{\tilde{W}(x)} f_{\pm}(x) \right).$$

Suppose g(x) takes its minimum in $A_{i_0}^{(k)}$ at x_0 and $g(x_0) < 0$. Then $\nabla g(x_0) = 0$ and $\Delta_x g(x_0) \ge 0$. Then using $f_{\pm}(x_0) < 0$ and $-\Delta \tilde{W} \ge p \sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W} + V$ and (5.20), we have

$$\Delta_x f_{\pm}(x_0) - \frac{\Delta_x \tilde{W}}{\tilde{W}} f_{\pm}(x_0) \le \Delta_x f_{\pm}(x_0) + \frac{p \sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W} + V}{\tilde{W}} f_{\pm}(x_0) < 0,$$

which is a contradiction. This shows that $g(x) \ge 0$ for $x \in A_{i_0}^{(k)}$. Thanks to (5.15), we obtain

$$|\phi_k(x)| \le \frac{1}{6\nu} \tilde{W}(x) \le \frac{1}{2} W(x) \quad on \ A_{i_0}^{(k)},$$

when k is large enough. This finishes the proof of Case 3.

Combining all three cases above, we always have $|\phi_k(x)| \leq W(x)/2$ for k large. It is a contradiction because $\|\phi_k\|_* = 1$. Thus we prove (5.3).

To complete the whole proof, it suffices to prove the three claims we have used.

Proof of Claim 1. By (4.28) in Lemma 4.7,

$$\tilde{\sigma}_k(y) = (1 + o(1))U[0, 1](y) + \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} U[z_{i_0 j}, \lambda_j / \lambda_{i_0}](y), \quad y \in \mathcal{K}_l$$

We shall show the sum of the right-hand side is also o(1)U[0, 1](y) on \mathcal{K}_l . Invoking the definition of \mathcal{K}_l in (5.6), we see that $|y - z_{i_0j}| \ge |y_i - \bar{z}_j|/2 \ge 1/2l$ when k is large enough. On the other hand, $j \in S(i_0)$ implies that $\lambda_j/\lambda_{i_0} \to \infty$ as $k \to \infty$. Thus,

$$\frac{U[z_{i_0j},\lambda_j/\lambda_{i_0}]}{U[0,1]} = \frac{(\lambda_j/\lambda_{i_0})^{\frac{n-2}{2}}(1+|y|^2)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}}{(1+(\lambda_j/\lambda_{i_0})^2|y-\bar{z}_j|^2)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}} \le \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_{i_0}}\right)^{\frac{2-n}{2}}(2l)^{2n-4} \to 0$$

as $k \to \infty$. Hence

$$\tilde{\sigma}_k(y) = (1 + o(1))U[0, 1](y), \quad y \in \mathcal{K}_k$$

By Lemma 4.7, for k large enough, we have

$$\frac{|\phi_k(x)|}{W(x_k)} \lesssim \frac{w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x) + \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}})(x)}{w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x_k) + \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}})(x_k)},$$
$$\frac{|h_k(x)|}{\lambda_{i_0}^2 W(x_k)} \lesssim \frac{v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x) + \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}})(x)}{\lambda_{i_0}^2 [w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x_k) + \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (w_j^{\text{in}} + w_j^{\text{out}})(x_k)]} \|h_k\|_{**},$$

when $x = y/\lambda_{i_0} + z_{i_0}$ and $y \in \mathcal{K}_l$. To prove the rest of the claim, we need to use a simple inequality

$$\frac{\sum_{i} a_i}{\sum_{i} b_i} \le \max_i \{\frac{a_i}{b_i}\},\tag{5.21}$$

which holds for any positive a_i, b_i . It suffices to establish the following estimates for each ratio on \mathcal{K}_l .

• For the inner weight functions of U_{i_0} , let $y = \lambda_{i_0}(x - z_{i_0})$ and $\xi_k = \lambda_{i_0}(x_k - z_{i_0})$, we have

$$\frac{w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x)}{w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x_k)} = \frac{1+|\xi_k|^2}{1+|y|^2} \le 1+L^2,$$
$$\frac{v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x)}{\lambda_{i_0}^2 w_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x_k)} = \frac{1+|\xi_k|^2}{(1+|y|^2)^2} \le 1+L^2.$$

• If $i_0 \prec j$, then $\lambda_{i_0}/\lambda_j \to 0$ as $k \to \infty$. In this case, \mathcal{K}_l is contained in the support of w_j^{out} when k is large enough. Using $|z_{i_0j}| \leq C^*$ and $|\xi_k| \leq L$, we have

$$\frac{w_j^{\text{out}}(x)}{w_j^{\text{out}}(x_k)} = \left(\frac{(\lambda_{i_0}/\lambda_j)^2 + |\xi_k - z_{i_0j}|^2}{(\lambda_{i_0}/\lambda_j)^2 + |y - z_{i_0j}|^2}\right)^{\frac{n-4}{2}} \lesssim \left(\frac{L}{|y - \bar{z}_j|}\right)^{n-4},$$
$$\frac{v_j^{\text{out}}(x)}{\lambda_{i_0}^2 w_j^{\text{out}}(x_k)} = \frac{((\lambda_{i_0}/\lambda_j)^2 + |\xi_k - z_{i_0j}|^2)^{\frac{n-4}{2}}}{((\lambda_{i_0}/\lambda_j)^2 + |y - z_{i_0j}|^2)^{\frac{n-2}{2}}} \lesssim l^{n-2}L^{n-4}.$$

Combining the above two cases and using (5.21), we have

$$\begin{split} |\tilde{\phi}_k(y)| &\lesssim L^2 + \left(\frac{L}{|y - \bar{z}_j|}\right)^{n-4}, \\ |\tilde{h}_k(y)| &\lesssim \|h_k\|_{**} \left(L^2 + l^{n-2}L^{n-4}\right) \to 0 \quad \text{as } k \to \infty. \end{split}$$

From this, the assertion follows.

 \Box

Proof of Claim 2. • To prove (5.12), using (5.11), we obtain that

$$\frac{\tilde{w}_i^{\text{in}}}{w_i^{\text{in}}} = \sum_{j \in S(i)} \frac{1 + |y_i|^2}{1 + |z_{ij}|^2 + \epsilon_1^{-2} |y_i - z_{ij}|^2}.$$
(5.22)

Here we have omitted the superscript (k) for y and z.

Pick any $j \in S(i)$. On the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| \le \epsilon_1\}$, it holds that

$$\frac{1+|y_i|^2}{1+|z_{ij}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{ij}|^2} \le \frac{1+2\epsilon_1^2+2|z_{ij}|^2}{1+|z_{ij}|^2} \le 2,
\frac{1+|y_i|^2}{1+|z_{ij}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{ij}|^2} \ge \frac{1-2\epsilon_1^2+2|z_{ij}|^2}{2+|z_{ij}|^2} \ge \frac{1}{3}.$$
(5.23)

Let us consider any other $l \in S(i)$. There are the following two cases:

Case 1: $|z_{ij} - z_{il}| \le 2\epsilon_1$. In this case, for $|y_i - z_{ij}| \le \epsilon_1$ we have

$$\frac{1+|z_{ij}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{ij}|^2}{1+|z_{il}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{il}|^2} \le \frac{2+8\epsilon_1^2+2|z_{il}|^2}{1+|z_{il}|^2} \le 3.$$
(5.24)

Case 2: $|z_{ij} - z_{il}| \ge 2\epsilon_1$. Note $|y_i - z_{il}| \ge |z_{ij} - z_{il}| - |y_i - z_{ij}| \ge |z_{ij} - z_{il}|/2$. Then $|z_{il}|^2 + \epsilon_1^{-2} |y_i - z_{il}|^2 \ge |z_{il}|^2 + |z_{ij} - z_{il}|^2 \ge |z_{ij}|^2/2$. We have

$$\frac{1+|z_{ij}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{ij}|^2}{1+|z_{il}|^2+\epsilon_1^{-2}|y_i-z_{il}|^2} \le \frac{2+|z_{ij}|^2}{1+|z_{ij}|^2/2} \le 2.$$
(5.25)

Plugging in (5.23)-(5.25) to (5.22), we have

$$\frac{1}{3} \le \frac{\tilde{w}_i^{\text{in}}}{w_i^{\text{in}}} \le 2 + \sum_{l \in S(i), l \ne j} 3 \le 3\nu, \quad \text{on } \{|y_i - z_{ij}| \le \epsilon_1\}.$$

Since $j \in S(i)$ is arbitrary, then the above inequalities hold on $A_i^{(k)}$. • Towards proving (5.13), we denote $f_j(x) = (1 + |z_{ij}|^2 + \varepsilon_1^{-2}|y_i - z_{ij}|^2)^{-1}$ temporarily. Recall that $y_i = \lambda_i(x - z_i)$. By direct calculation, we have

$$\Delta_x f_j = \lambda_i^2 [-2(n-4)\epsilon_1^{-2} f_j^2 - 8\epsilon_1^{-2} (1+|z_{ij}|^2) f_j^3].$$

Since $\tilde{w}_i^{\text{in}}(x) = \sum_{l \in S(i)} \lambda_l^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n} f_l$, then on the set $\{|y_i - z_{ij}| \le \epsilon_1\}$, we have $\Delta_x \tilde{w}_i^{\text{in}}(x) \le \lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}} R^{2-n} \Delta_x f_j \le -2(n-4)\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}} R^{2-n} f_j^2 \le -\frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} \tilde{v}_i^{\text{in}}.$

We use (5.23) to get $f_j \ge \frac{1}{3} \langle y_i \rangle^{-2}$ in the last step.

By the arbitrariness of j, we can prove Claim 2 on $A_i^{(k)}$.

Proof of Claim 3. It is easy to verify that F is a smooth function except a = b = 0. Also, F is homogeneous and increasing on a, b with $0 \le \frac{\partial F}{\partial a} \le 1$ and $0 \le \frac{\partial F}{\partial b} \le 1$. Moreover, F is concave on a, b (see [33]). Denote $a_j = R^{2-n}/\langle y_j \rangle^2$ and $b_j = R^{-4}/\langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}$. Therefore,

$$\Delta_x \tilde{W} \le \sum \lambda_j^{\frac{n-2}{2}} \left(\frac{\partial F}{\partial a}(a_j, b_j) \Delta_x a_j + \frac{\partial F}{\partial b}(a_j, b_j) \Delta_x b_j \right) + \Delta_x \tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x).$$

We have

$$\Delta_x a_j = \Delta_x \frac{R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2} = -2(n-4) \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^4} - \frac{8\lambda_j^2 R^{2-n}}{\langle y_j \rangle^6} \le -2(n-4) \frac{\lambda_j^2 a_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^2},$$

$$\Delta_x b_j = -2(n-4) \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} - (n-2)(n-4) \frac{\lambda_j^2 R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^n} \le -2(n-4) \frac{\lambda_j^2 b_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}.$$

Since *F* is homogeneous degree 1, we get $a\frac{\partial F}{\partial a} + b\frac{\partial F}{\partial b} = F(a, b)$. Moreover, it also implies $\frac{\partial F}{\partial a}, \frac{\partial F}{\partial b}$ are homogeneous 0, that is $\frac{\partial F}{\partial a}(a_j, b_j) = \frac{\partial F}{\partial a}(a_j/\langle y_j \rangle^2, b_j/\langle y_j \rangle^2)$. Applying the above facts to $\Delta_x \tilde{W}$, we get

$$\begin{split} \Delta_x \tilde{W}(x) &\leq -2(n-4) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} \lambda_j^{\frac{n+2}{2}} F\left(\frac{a_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}, \frac{b_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}\right) + \Delta_x \tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x) \\ &\leq -(n-4) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} \lambda_j^{\frac{n+2}{2}} \min\{R^{2-n} \langle y_j \rangle^{-4}, R^{-4} \langle y_j \rangle^{n-4}\} - \frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} v_{i_0}^{\text{in}} \\ &\leq -(n-4)(1+o(1)) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} [v_j^{\text{in}} + v_j^{\text{out}}] - \frac{n-4}{8\epsilon_1^2} v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}. \end{split}$$

We have used (5.10) and (5.13) in the second step. The proof of Claim 3 is complete.

The proof of Lemma 5.1 is complete when the dimension $n \ge 7$. Replacing $w_i^{\text{in(out)}}$ by $\hat{w}_i^{\text{in(out)}}$ and $v_i^{\text{in(out)}}$ by $\hat{v}_i^{\text{in(out)}}$, one can prove Lemma 5.1 when the dimension n = 6 by following the above one verbatim. We point out some necessary modifications.

When n = 6, on $\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \Omega^{(k)}$, we have

$$\bar{w}_i^{\text{in}} \leq 2L^{-1}(\log L)\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}}, \quad \bar{w}_i^{\text{out}} \leq 2L^{-1}(\log L)\hat{w}_i^{\text{out}}.$$

Therefore, Case 1 can be established by choosing L large enough.

For Case 2, in the statement of claim 1, $\tilde{\phi}_k$ should be modified to

$$|\tilde{\phi}_k|(y) \lesssim \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} \left(\frac{L}{|y - \bar{z}_j|}\right)^3 + L^2, \quad \forall y \in \mathcal{K}_l.$$
(5.26)

Using this upper bound, the other parts of Case 2 still hold in n = 6.

For Case 3, the barrier function is

$$\tilde{W}(x) = \sum_{j \in I \setminus \{i_0\}} \lambda_j^2 F\left(\frac{R^{-4}}{\langle y_j \rangle^2}, \frac{R^{-2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^3}\right) + \tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}},$$
(5.27)

where $\tilde{w}_{i_0}^{\text{in}}$ is again (5.11). Since $\Delta_x \langle y_j \rangle^{-3} \leq -3\lambda_i^2 \langle y_j \rangle^{-5}$, Claim 3 must be modified to

$$\Delta_x \tilde{W}(x) \le -\frac{3}{2} (1+o(1)) \sum_{j \in S(i_0)} (\hat{v}_j^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_j^{\text{out}}) - \frac{1}{4\epsilon_1^2} v_{i_0}^{\text{in}}(x).$$

To estimate $\sigma_k^{p-1} \tilde{W}$, one should use Lemma 4.2. The other parts of the proof still hold.

5.2. Existence and point-wise estimate. In this subsection, we shall use the a priori estimate we have derived to prove the existence of ρ_0 .

First, we estimate the coefficients c_b^j in (3.1). See the definition of $\zeta_n(x)$ in (1.8).

Lemma 5.2. Suppose σ is the sum of a family of δ -interacting bubbles. If ϕ , h and c_b^j satisfy (3.1), then

$$|c_b^j| \lesssim Q ||h||_{**} + \zeta_n(Q)^2 ||\phi||_*, \quad 1 \le j \le \nu, \ 1 \le b \le n+1.$$

Proof. Multiplying (3.1) by Z_i^b and integrating we get

$$\int p\sigma^{p-1}\phi Z_j^b = \int hZ_j^b + \sum_{i,a} \int c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a Z_j^b,$$
(5.28)

for any $1 \le j \le \nu$, $1 \le b \le n+1$. Here we used the orthogonal condition in (3.1).

By the Lemma A.5, for $a, b \leq n + 1$, there exist some constants $\gamma^b > 0$ such that

$$\sum_{i,a} \int c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a Z_j^b = c_b^j \gamma^b + \sum_{i \neq j} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^i O(q_{ij}).$$

Plugging in the above estimates to (5.28), we see that $\{c_b^j\}$ satisfies the linear system

$$c_b^j \gamma^b + \sum_{i \neq j} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^i O(q_{ij}) = \int p \sigma^{p-1} \phi Z_j^b - \int h Z_j^b.$$

Denote $\vec{c}^j := (c_1^j, \cdots, c_{n+1}^j) \in \mathbb{R}^{n+1}$ for $j = 1, \cdots, \nu$. We concatenate these vectors to $\vec{c} = (\vec{c}^1, \cdots, \vec{c}^\nu) \in \mathbb{R}^{\nu(n+1)}$ and think of the above equations as a linear system on \vec{c} . Since $q_{ij} \leq Q \leq \delta$, the coefficient matrix is diagonally dominant and hence solvable. It remains to estimate the terms on the right-hand side.

For each j and b, by the orthogonal condition in (3.1) and $|Z_j^b| \leq U_j$, we have

$$\left|\int p\sigma^{p-1}\phi Z_j^b\right| = \left|\int p\left(\sigma^{p-1} - U_j^{p-1}\right)Z_j^b\phi\right| \lesssim \|\phi\|_* \int \left(\sigma^{p-1} - U_j^{p-1}\right)U_jW.$$
(5.29)

Thanks to the fact that $(\sigma^{p-1} - U_i^{p-1})U_i \ge 0$ for each *i*, we have

$$(\sigma^{p-1} - U_j^{p-1})U_j \le \sum_i (\sigma^{p-1} - U_i^{p-1})U_i = \sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p$$

By Proposition 3.4, we have $|\sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p| \leq V$. Then by Lemma 3.7 and Hölder's inequality, (5.29) can be bounded by

$$\left| \int p \sigma^{p-1} \phi Z_j^b \right| \lesssim \|\phi\|_* \int V W \le \|V\|_{L^{(2^*)'}} \|W\|_{L^{2^*}} \|\phi\|_* \lesssim \zeta_n(Q)^2 \|\phi\|_*.$$

By Lemma B.1, we also have

$$\left|\int hZ_j^b\right| \lesssim \|h\|_{**} \int VU_j dx \lesssim R^{2-n} \|h\|_{**} \approx Q \|h\|_{**}.$$

With the above two inequalities, the Lemma 5.2 is proved.

From Lemma 5.1 and Lemma 5.2, using a standard argument as in the proof of Proposition 4.1 in [17], we can prove the following result.

Proposition 5.3. There exist positive constants δ_0 and C, independent of δ , such that for all $\delta \leq \delta_0$ and all h with $||h||_{**} < \infty$, problem (3.1) has a unique solution $\phi \equiv \mathcal{L}(h)$. Besides,

$$\left\|\mathcal{L}(h)\right\|_{*} \leqslant C \|h\|_{**}, \quad \left|c_{a}^{i}\right| \leqslant C\delta \|h\|_{**}.$$

Proof. Let $\{U_i : 1 \le i \le \nu\}$ be a family of bubbles with δ -interaction, i.e., $Q \le \delta$. Let us consider the space

$$H := \{ \phi \in \dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n) : \int \phi Z_i^a U_i^{p-1} = 0, 1 \le i \le \nu, 1 \le a \le n+1 \}$$

endowed with the inner product $\langle \phi, \psi \rangle = \int \nabla \phi \cdot \nabla \psi$. Problem (3.1) expressed in a weak form is equivalent to that of finding a $\phi \in H$ such that

$$\langle \phi, \psi \rangle = \int \left(p \sigma^{p-1} \phi - h \right) \psi, \ \forall \psi \in H.$$
 (5.30)

With the aid of Riesz's representation theorem, we can rewrite this equation in the operational form

$$\phi = T(\phi) + \tilde{h} \tag{5.31}$$

with certain h which depends linearly in h and where T is a compact operator in H. Fredholm's alternative guarantees the unique solvability of this problem for any h provided that the homogeneous equation

$$\phi = T(\phi) \tag{5.32}$$

has only the zero solution in H. Observe that this equation (5.32) is equivalent to

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi + p \sigma^{p-1} \phi = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a, & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} \phi Z_i^a = 0, & i = 1, \cdots, \nu; a = 1, \cdots, n+1, \end{cases}$$
(5.33)

for certain constants c_a^i . Assume it has a nontrivial solution $\phi = \phi_0$, which with no loss of generality may be taken so that $\|\phi_0\|_* = 1$. But with the aid of Lemma 5.1 and Lemma 5.2, we have

$$\|\phi_0\|_* \le C\zeta_n(Q)^2 \|\phi_0\|_* \le \frac{1}{2} \|\phi_0\|_*.$$

This is certainly a contradiction that proves this equation only has the zero solution in H. We conclude then that for each h, problem (3.1) admits a unique solution. Denote this solution as $\phi = \mathcal{L}(h)$. Note that $|U_i^{p-1}Z_i^a| \leq U_i^p \leq R^{n-2}(v_i^{\text{in}} + v_i^{\text{out}})$ or $R^4(\hat{v}_i^{\text{in}} + \hat{v}_i^{\text{out}})$ in dimension n = 6. Thus $||U_i^{p-1}Z_i^a||_{**} \leq R^{n-2} \approx Q^{-1}$. It follows from Lemma 5.1 and Lemma 5.2 that

$$\begin{aligned} \|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_{*} &\leq C \|h\|_{**} + C \left[Q\|h\|_{**} + \zeta_{n}(Q)^{2} \|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_{*}\right] Q^{-1} \\ &\leq C \|h\|_{**} + o(Q) \|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_{*}. \end{aligned}$$

Thus $\|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_* \leq C \|h\|_{**}$ when δ is small enough. Consequently, $|c_a^i| \leq Q \|h\|_{**} + o(Q) \|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_* \leq C \delta \|h\|_{**}$.

With the aid of the above linear theory, we can solve the following nonlinear equation of ρ_0 ,

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \rho_0 + (\sigma + \rho_0) |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p = \sum_{i,a} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a \rho_0 = 0, \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; a = 1, \cdots, n+1. \end{cases}$$
(5.34)

Proposition 5.4. Suppose that δ is small enough. There exist a solution ρ_0 and a family of scalars (c_a^i) which solve (5.34). Moreover,

$$|\rho_0|(x) \le CW(x). \tag{5.35}$$

Proof. Let us consider the following equation

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \phi + (\sigma + \phi) | \sigma + \phi |^{p-1} - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p = \sum_{i,a} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a & \text{in } \mathbb{R}^n, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a \phi = 0, \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; a = 1, \cdots, n+1. \end{cases}$$
(5.36)

Recall that $N_{\sigma}(\phi) = (\sigma + \phi)|\sigma + \phi|^{p-1} - \sigma^p - p\sigma^{p-1}\phi$ and $h = \sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p$. Then, (5.36) is equivalent to

$$\phi = A(\phi) =: -\mathcal{L}(N_{\sigma}(\phi)) - \mathcal{L}(h), \qquad (5.37)$$

where \mathcal{L} is defined in Proposition 5.3. We will show that A is a contraction mapping.

First, we claim that $||N_{\sigma}(\phi)||_{**} \leq C_1 R^{-4(p-1)} ||\phi||_*$. In fact, since $|N_{\sigma}(\phi)| \leq C ||\phi||_*^p W^p$, then

$$\|N_{\sigma}(\phi)\|_{**} \le C \|\phi\|_{*} \sup_{\mathbb{R}^{n}} W^{p}(x) V^{-1}(x).$$
(5.38)

For the inner weight functions, if $|y_i| \leq R$, we have

$$\frac{(w_i^{\text{in}})^p}{v_i^{\text{in}}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^2}\right)^p \left(\frac{\langle y_i \rangle^4}{\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}}R^{2-n}}\right) = R^{-4} \langle y_i \rangle^{4-2p} \le R^{-2p}.$$

For the outer weight functions, if $R < |y_i|$, we have

$$\frac{(w_i^{\text{out}})^p}{v_i^{\text{out}}} = \left(\frac{\lambda_i^{\frac{n-2}{2}}R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-4}}\right)^p \left(\frac{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}}{\lambda_i^{\frac{n+2}{2}}R^{-4}}\right) = R^{4(1-p)} \langle y_i \rangle^{n-2-p(n-4)} \le R^{4(1-p)},$$

since n - 2 - p(n - 4) < 0 when $n \ge 7$. One can also prove $(\hat{w}_i^{\text{in}})^2 / \hat{v}_i^{\text{in}} + (\hat{w}_i^{\text{out}})^2 / \hat{v}_i^{\text{out}} \le R^{-4}$ in dimension n = 6. Thanks to the inequality (5.21), we have

$$W^p V^{-1} \le R^{-4(p-1)}.$$

Thus, there exists $C_1 = C_1(n, \nu)$ such that

$$\|N_{\sigma}(\phi)\|_{**} \le C_1 R^{-4(p-1)} \|\phi\|_{*}.$$
(5.39)

Making C_1 possibly larger, we also have $\|\mathcal{L}(h)\|_* \leq C_1 \|h\|_{**}$ in Proposition 5.3.

Second, it follows from Proposition 3.4 that there exists $C_2 = C_2(n, \nu)$ such that $||h||_{**} \leq C_2$.

Now we define the space

$$E = \{ u : u \in C(\mathbb{R}^n), \|u\|_* \le C_1 C_2 + 1 \}.$$

We will show that A is a contraction mapping from E to E. Choosing δ small, then R large such that $R^{-4(p-1)}C_1^2(C_1C_2+1) \leq 1$, we have

$$||A(\phi)||_* \le C_1 ||N_{\sigma}(\phi)||_{**} + C_1 ||h||_{**}$$

$$\le R^{-4(p-1)} C_1^2 (C_1 C_2 + 1) + C_1 C_2 \le C_1 C_2 + 1.$$

Thus, $A(E) \subset E$. Furthermore,

$$||A(\phi_1) - A(\phi_2)||_* \le ||\mathcal{L}(N_{\sigma}(\phi_1)) - \mathcal{L}(N_{\sigma}(\phi_2))||_{**}$$

$$\le C_1 ||N_{\sigma}(\phi_1) - N_{\sigma}(\phi_2)||_{**}.$$

If $n \ge 6$, then we have the $|N_{\sigma}(\phi_1) - N_{\sigma}(\phi_2)| \le |\phi_1 - \phi_2|(|\phi_1|^{p-1} + |\phi_2|^{p-1})$ (see [14, Appendix D]). As a result,

$$|N_{\sigma}(\phi_1) - N_{\sigma}(\phi_2)| \le C \left(\|\phi_1\|_*^{p-1} + \|\phi_2\|_*^{p-1} \right) \|\phi_1 - \phi_2\|_* W^p.$$

Since $W^p V^{-1} \leq R^{-4(p-1)} \ll 1$ if δ small, we get

$$||A(\phi_1) - A(\phi_2)||_* \le \frac{1}{2} ||\phi_1 - \phi_2||_*.$$

Thus, A is a contraction mapping. It follows from the contraction mapping theorem that there exists a unique $\rho_0 \in E$, such that $\rho_0 = A(\rho_0)$. Moreover, it follows from Proposition 5.3 that $\|\rho_0\|_* \leq C$.

6. GRADIENT ESTIMATE OF THE ERROR FUNCTION

In this section, we will establish L^2 estimates for the $\nabla \rho$, based on the pointwise estimates from the previous section 5.

Proposition 6.1. Suppose δ is small enough. We have the gradient estimate

$$\|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q). \tag{6.1}$$

Proof. By (5.34), we have ρ_0 satisfies that

$$\Delta \rho_0 + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho_0 + (\sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p) + N_{\sigma}(\rho_0) = \sum_{i,a} c_a^i U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a.$$

Multiplying the above equation by ρ_0 and using the orthogonal condition in (5.34), we get

$$\int |\nabla \rho_0|^2 \lesssim \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_0^2 + \int |N_\sigma(\rho_0)\rho_0| + \int (\sigma^p - \sum U_i^p)\rho_0.$$
(6.2)

It follows from Proposition 3.4 and Proposition 5.4 that $|\sigma^p - \sum_i U_i^p| \leq V(x)$ and $|\rho_0(x)| \leq W(x)$. By Lemma 3.7 and $R^{2-n} \approx Q$, we have $||W||_{L^{2^*}} \leq \zeta_n(Q)$ and $||W||_{L^{2^*}} ||V||_{L^{(2^*)'}} \leq \zeta_n(Q)^2$. Therefore

$$\int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_0^2 \lesssim \int \sigma^{p-1} W^2 \lesssim \|\sigma\|_{L^{2^*}}^{p-1} \|W\|_{L^{2^*}}^2 \lesssim \zeta_n(Q)^2,$$
$$\int (\sigma^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} U_i^p) \rho_0 \lesssim \int VW \lesssim \|W\|_{L^{2^*}} \|V\|_{L^{(2^*)'}} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q)^2,$$
$$\int |N_{\sigma}(\rho_0)\rho_0| \lesssim \int |\rho_0|^{p+1} \lesssim \int W^{p+1} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q)^{p+1}.$$

Plugging in the above inequalities to (6.2), the proof is complete.

Now consider $\rho_1 = \rho - \rho_0$. Recall ρ satisfies (2.4) and ρ_0 satisfies (5.34). Thus ρ_1 solves

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \rho_1 + \left[(\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1)^p - (\sigma + \rho_0)^p \right] + \sum_{i,a} c_a^j U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a + f = 0, \\ \int U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a \rho_1 = 0 \quad i = 1, \cdots, \nu; \ a = 1, \cdots, n+1. \end{cases}$$
(6.3)

Here the notation x^p means $x|x|^{p-1}$ for any x. We do not know whether $\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1$ is positive everywhere or not. For rigorous reasons, one needs to write $(\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1)|\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1|^{p-1}$. However, we abuse the notation here and adopt it for the rest of this paper to save some space.

Since (1.14) and $\int \nabla \rho_0 \cdot \nabla Z_i^a = p \int U_i^{p-1} \rho_0 Z_i^a = 0$, we see that $\rho_1 = \rho - \rho_0$ is also orthogonal to Z_i^a in \dot{H}^1 for any $1 \le i \le \nu$ and $a = 1, \dots, n+1$. Now we decompose

$$\rho_1 = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} \beta_i U_i + \rho_2, \tag{6.4}$$

with

$$\beta_i = \int \nabla \rho_1 \cdot \nabla U_i. \tag{6.5}$$

Then ρ_2 satisfies that

$$\int \nabla \rho_2 \cdot \nabla U_i = 0 = \int \nabla \rho_2 \cdot \nabla Z_i^a, \tag{6.6}$$

for all $i = 1, \dots, \nu$ and $a = 1, \dots, n+1$. The definition of ρ_2 is intended to provide a second variation estimate in the following lemma.

Lemma 6.2. If δ is small enough, then ρ_2 satisfies

$$\|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} |\beta_i| + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Consequently, $\|\nabla \rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} |\beta_i| + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$.

Proof. Multiplying (6.3) by ρ_2 and integrating by parts, we get

$$\int |\nabla \rho_2|^2 = \int [(\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1)^p - (\sigma + \rho_0)^p] \rho_2 + \int \rho_2 f.$$

Here we have used the orthogonal condition (6.6). Using the elementary inequality

$$|(\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1)^p - (\sigma + \rho_0)^p - p(\sigma + \rho_0)^{p-1}\rho_1| \lesssim |\rho_1|^p,$$
(6.7)

we have

$$\int |\nabla \rho_2|^2 \le p \int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} |\rho_1 \rho_2| + C \int |\rho_1|^p |\rho_2| + \int |\rho_2 f|.$$
 (6.8)

Let us estimate each term on the RHS. Denote $\mathcal{B} = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} |\beta_i|$. The second and last ones are easy to be controlled as follows.

$$\int |\rho_1|^p |\rho_2| \le \|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}}^p \|\rho_2\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim (\mathcal{B} + \|\nabla\rho_2\|_{L^2})^p \|\nabla\rho_2\|_{L^2},
\int |\rho_2 f| \lesssim \|\rho_2\|_{\dot{H}^1} \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$
(6.9)

The first one on the RHS of (6.8) is a bit more difficult to estimate. First, notice the decomposition of ρ_1 in (6.4), we have $|\rho_1| \leq C\mathcal{B}\sigma + |\rho_2|$,

$$p\int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} |\rho_1 \rho_2| \le C\mathcal{B} \int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} \sigma |\rho_2| + p\int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} \rho_2^2.$$

By Hölder's inequality and Sobolev inequality,

$$\int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} \sigma |\rho_2| \lesssim \|\sigma + \rho_0\|_{L^{2^*}}^{p-1} \|\sigma\|_{L^{2^*}} \|\rho_2\|_{L^{2^*}}$$

$$\lesssim \|\nabla \sigma + \nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2}^{p-1} \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}.$$
(6.10)

We used (6.1) and the fact that $||U_i||_{\dot{H}^1}$ and $||U_i||_{L^{2^*}}$ are some dimensional constants for all $1 \le i \le \nu$.

Second, it follows from the second variation estimate (for instance, see [4, Prop 3.1] and [22, Prop 3.10]) and the orthogonal condition (6.6) of ρ_2 that there exists a constant $\tilde{c} < 1$ such that

$$p \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_2^2 \le \tilde{c} \int |\nabla \rho_2|^2.$$

Recall a simple inequality that if x > 0 and $p \in (1, 2]$ then $||x + y|^{p-1} - |x|^{p-1}| \le C|y|^{p-1}$ for any y. Consequently,

$$p\int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1}\rho_2^2 \le \tilde{c}\int |\nabla\rho_2|^2 + C\int |\rho_0|^{p-1}\rho_2^2 \le (\tilde{c} + C\|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2}^{p-1})\|\nabla\rho_2\|_{L^2}^2$$

Combining the above inequality with (6.10), we obtain

$$p\int |\sigma + \rho_0|^{p-1} |\rho_1 \rho_2| \le (\tilde{c} + C \|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2}^{p-1}) \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}^2 + C\mathcal{B} \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}.$$
 (6.11)

By Proposition 6.1, we can make $\|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2} \ll 1$. Plugging in (6.9) and (6.11) to (6.8), we obtain

$$\|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}^2 \lesssim \mathcal{B} \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} + (\mathcal{B} + \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2})^p \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}} \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}.$$

Dividing $\|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2}$ on both sides (unless $\rho_2 \equiv 0$, when there is nothing to prove), we have

$$\|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \mathcal{B} + (\mathcal{B} + \|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2})^p + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

By (6.5) and Hölder's inequality, $|\beta_i| \leq \|\nabla \rho_1\|_{L^2} \leq \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2} + \|\nabla \rho_0\|_{L^2}$. Since $\sigma = \sum_i U_i$ is the best approximation of u, then $\rho = u - \sigma$ satisfies $\|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2} \leq \delta$. Taking δ small and using (6.1), we can obtain $\mathcal{B} \ll 1$ and $\|\nabla \rho_2\|_{L^2} \ll 1$. Thus, the above inequality proves the lemma.

Lemma 6.3. If δ is small enough, then

$$|\beta_i| \lesssim Q^2 + ||f||_{H^{-1}}, \quad 1 \le i \le \nu$$

Proof. We shall multiply (6.3) by U_k and integrate it. Before that, let us make some preparations. It follows from (6.7) and $|(\sigma + \rho_0)^{p-1} - U_k^{p-1}| \lesssim \sum_{i \neq k} U_i^{p-1} + |\rho_0|^{p-1}$ that

$$\left| \int [(\sigma + \rho_0 + \rho_1)^p - (\sigma + \rho_0)^p] U_k - p \int U_k^p \rho_1 \right| \\ \lesssim \sum_{i \neq k} \int U_i^{p-1} U_k |\rho_1| + \int |\rho_1|^p U_k + \int |\rho_0|^{p-1} |\rho_1| U_k$$

Denote $\mathcal{B} = \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} |\beta_i|$. It follows from Sobolev inequality and Lemma 6.2 that $\|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \mathcal{B} + \|\nabla\rho_2\|_{L^2} \lesssim \mathcal{B} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$. By Hölder's inequality, Sobolev inequality, Lemma 6.2 and Lemma A.3, we have

$$\int |\rho_1|^p U_k \lesssim \|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}}^p \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2}^p \lesssim \mathcal{B}^p + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}^p,$$

$$\int |\rho_0|^{p-1} |\rho_1| U_k \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2}^{p-1} \|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}} \|U_k\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim o(1) \left(\mathcal{B} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}\right),$$

$$\int U_i^{p-1} U_k |\rho_1| \le \|U_i^{p-1} U_k\|_{L^{(2^*)'}} \|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim o(1) \left(\mathcal{B} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}\right), \quad i \neq k.$$

Here o(1) denotes a quantity that goes to 0 when $\delta \to 0$. Multiplying (6.3) by U_k and integrating it, the above estimates give

$$\int \Delta \rho_1 U_k + p U_k^p \rho_1 \lesssim o(1) \left(\mathcal{B} + \|f\|_{H^{-1}} \right) + \sum_{j,a} |c_a^j| \left| \int U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a U_k \right| + \int |f U_k|.$$

For the LHS, we use integration by parts and (6.4) to get

$$\int \Delta \rho_1 U_k + p U_k^p \rho_1 = (p-1) \int U_k^p \rho_1$$
$$= -(p-1) \int \nabla U_k \cdot \nabla \rho_1 = -(p-1)\beta_k.$$

For the RHS, we see that $\int U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a U_k = 0$ if j = k and $\int U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a U_k \lesssim \int U_i^p U_k \approx Q$ if $j \neq k$ by Lemma A.3. It follows from Proposition 3.4 and Lemma 5.2 that $|c_a^j| \lesssim Q$. Putting these estimates together, we obtain

$$|\beta_k| \lesssim o(1)\mathcal{B} + Q^2 + ||f||_{H^{-1}}.$$

Summing over k, we obtain $\mathcal{B} \lesssim Q^2 + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}$ when δ is small. This completes the proof.

Proposition 6.4. Suppose δ is small enough. We have

$$\|\nabla \rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim Q^2 + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Proof. This just follows from Lemma 6.3 and Lemma 6.2 with

$$\|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim \sum_i |\beta_i| + \|\nabla\rho_2\|_{L^2}.$$

Finally, we can prove the estimates which are used in the proof of the main theorem.

Lemma 6.5. Suppose δ is small enough. We have

$$\left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1} \right| = o(Q) + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}, \quad \left| \int |\rho|^p Z_k^{n+1} \right| = o(Q) + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

Proof. Notice $\rho = \rho_0 + \rho_1$. Then

$$\int \sigma^{p-1} \rho Z_k^{n+1} = \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_0 Z_k^{n+1} + \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_1 Z_k^{n+1}.$$
 (6.12)

By Hölder's inequality, Sobolev inequality and Proposition 6.4, we have

$$\left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_1 Z_k^{n+1} \right| \le \|\rho_1\|_{L^{2^*}} \|\sigma\|_{L^{2^*}}^{p-1} \|Z_k^{n+1}\|_{L^{2^*}} \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2} \lesssim Q^2 + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}.$$

It remains to consider the first term on the RHS of (6.12). By the orthogonality condition of ρ_0 , similar to (5.29), one has

$$\left| \int \sigma^{p-1} \rho_0 Z_k^{n+1} \right| = \left| \int (\sigma^{p-1} - U_k^{p-1}) \rho_0 Z_k^{n+1} \right| = o(Q).$$

Finally, by Hölder's inequality and Sobolev inequality, it follows from Proposition 6.1 and Proposition 6.4 that

$$\left| \int |\rho|^p Z_k^{n+1} \right| \le \|\rho\|_{L^{2^*}}^p \lesssim \|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2}^p \lesssim \|\nabla\rho_0\|_{L^2}^p + \|\nabla\rho_1\|_{L^2}^p \lesssim o(Q) + \|f\|_{H^{-1}}^p.$$

7. A SHARP EXAMPLE

In this section, we shall construct an example showing that our quantitative estimate is sharp, i.e., Theorem 1.5. The example is built on two widely separated bubbles with the same height, which is the same as the one in [22]. We obtain refined estimates using the point-wise estimate developed in Proposition 5.4.

Let us consider the two functions $U_1 := U[-Re_1; 1], U_2 := U[Re_1; 1]$ where $e_1 = (1, 0, \dots, 0) \in \mathbb{R}^n$ and $R \gg 1$. Then the interaction between U_1 and U_2 satisfies that $Q \approx R^{2-n} \ll 1$. One can define $\sigma = U_1 + U_2$ and construct norms $\|\cdot\|_*$ and $\|\cdot\|_{**}$ as (3.4) with $y_i = x - (-1)^i Re_1, i = 1, 2$.

By Proposition 5.4, choosing R large enough, we can find a solution ρ and a family of scalars (c_a^i) such that

$$\begin{cases} \Delta \rho + (\sigma + \rho) |\sigma + \rho|^{p-1} - U_1^p - U_2^p + \sum_{j,a} c_a^j U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a = 0, \\ \int U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a \rho = 0, \quad j = 1, 2; \ a = 1, \cdots, n+1. \end{cases}$$
(7.1)

Here $\sigma = U_1 + U_2$, Z_j^a are the corresponding ones in (2.1) for U_1 and U_2 . It follows from Lemma 5.2, Proposition 5.4 and Proposition 6.1 that

$$\sum_{j,a} \left| c_a^j \right| \lesssim Q, \quad \|\rho\|_* \le C(n,\nu), \quad \|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q). \tag{7.2}$$

Now let $u := U_1 + U_2 + \rho$. Then

$$\Delta u + |u|^{p-1}u = -\sum_{a,j} c_a^j U_j^{p-1} Z_j^a := -f.$$

By the Sobolev embedding, $|Z_i^a| \le U_j$ and (7.2), it is easy to see that

$$\|f\|_{H^{-1}} \lesssim \|f\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}} \lesssim \sum_{j,a} \left|c_a^j\right| \|U_j^p\|_{L^{\frac{2n}{n+2}}} \lesssim Q.$$
(7.3)

Lemma 7.1. For R large enough, one has

$$\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2} \gtrsim \zeta_n(\|f\|_{H^{-1}}).$$

Proof. It follows from (7.1) that

$$\Delta \rho + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho + h + N_{\sigma}(\rho) + f = 0, \qquad (7.4)$$

where

$$N_{\sigma}(\rho) = (\sigma + \rho)|\sigma + \rho|^{p-1} - \sigma^p - p\sigma^{p-1}\rho,$$

$$h = \sigma^p - U_1^p - U_2^p.$$

Using Green's representation, we have

$$\rho(x) = C(n) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} (p\sigma^{p-1}\rho(\xi) + h(\xi) + N_\sigma(\rho(\xi)) + f(\xi)) d\xi.$$

Using (5.39) and Lemma 3.6, we have

$$\left|\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x-\xi|^{2-n} N_{\sigma}(\rho(\xi)) d\xi\right| \lesssim \|\rho\|_* R^{-4(p-1)} W(x).$$

Using the estimate of P_1 in Proposition 4.3, we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} \sigma^{p-1} \rho(\xi) d\xi \right| \lesssim \overline{W}(x) + R^{-2} W(x).$$

In fact, in this case of two bubbles, the estimate of P_1 is much simpler than that of Proposition 4.3. We just highlight some details for dimension $n \ge 7$, and omit those of dimension n = 6. We still adopt the notation $A_{ii'}^{\text{in}}$ and $A_{ii'}^{\text{out}}$ $(i, i' \in \{1, 2\})$ in (4.19). It follows from the proof of Proposition 4.3 that $A_{ii}^{\text{in}} \leq \overline{W}$ and $A_{ii}^{\text{out}} \leq \overline{W}$. For the terms when $i' \neq i$, we note $z_{12} = z_{21} \approx 2R$, then $A_{ii'}^{\text{in}} + A_{ii'}^{\text{out}} \leq R^{-2}W$. Note that $|f| \leq \sum_{j,a} |c_a^j| U_j^p \leq R^{2-n} (\langle y_1 \rangle^{-n-2} + \langle y_2 \rangle^{-n-2})$. Thus, by Lemma A 7, we have

A.7, we have

$$\left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} f(\xi) d\xi \right| \lesssim R^{2-n} (\langle y_1 \rangle^{2-n} + \langle y_2 \rangle^{2-n}).$$

Combining the above three estimates and using the fact that $\overline{W}(x)$ decays faster than W(x), we have

$$P(x) := C(n) \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} (N_{\sigma}(\rho) + p\sigma^{p-1}\rho + f)(\xi) d\xi$$

$$\lesssim R^{2-n} (\chi_{\{|y_1| \le L\}} + \chi_{\{|y_2| \le L\}}) + L^{-1} W(x) \chi_{\{|y_1| \ge L, |y_2| \ge L\}}$$
(7.5)

for some fixed L large enough to be determined.

We multiply (7.4) by ρ and integrate it by parts to get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla \rho|^2 = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} (p\sigma^{p-1}\rho + h + N_\sigma(\rho))\rho.$$
(7.6)

Here the term that involves f vanishes because of the orthogonality condition in (7.1). To get a lower bound of $\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2}$, we shall throw away the term $\int \sigma^{p-1}\rho^2 >$ 0 and estimate the other two terms in the above identity.

First, since $|\rho| \leq ||\rho||_* W(x)$ and by (5.39), we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} N_{\sigma}(\rho) \rho \bigg| \lesssim \|\rho\|_* R^{-4(p-1)} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} V(x) W(x) dx \lesssim R^{-4(p-1)} \zeta_n(Q)^2.$$

Second, we notice that $\rho(x) = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} h(\xi) d\xi + P(x)$, then

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h\rho = \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |x - \xi|^{2-n} h(x) h(\xi) dx d\xi + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) P(x) dx$$
$$=: J_1 + J_2.$$

For J_1 , denoting $\xi_1 = \xi + Re_1$, we use (3.21) to get

$$J_{1} \geq R^{4-2n} \iint_{|y_{1}| \leq R, |\xi_{1}| \leq R} |y_{1} - \xi_{1}|^{2-n} \langle y_{1} \rangle^{-4} \langle \xi_{1} \rangle^{-4} dy_{1} d\xi_{1}$$

$$\gtrsim R^{4-2n} \int_{|\xi_{1}| \leq R} \langle \xi_{1} \rangle^{-6} d\xi_{1} \gtrsim \zeta_{n}(Q)^{2}.$$

For J_2 , we use $h(x) \leq R^{2-n} \langle y_1 \rangle^{-4}$ on the set $\{|y_1| \leq L\}$ and (7.5) to get

$$\begin{split} \left| \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} h(x) P(x) dx \right| &\lesssim \int_{|y_1| \le L} R^{4-2n} \langle y_1 \rangle^{-4} dx + \int_{|y_2| \le L} R^{4-2n} \langle y_2 \rangle^{-4} dx \\ &+ L^{-1} \int_{|y_1| \ge L, |y_2| \ge L} V(x) W(x) \\ &\lesssim R^{4-2n} L^{n-4} + L^{-1} \zeta_n(Q)^2 \le \left[\frac{L^{n-4}}{\log R} + \frac{1}{L} \right] \zeta_n(Q)^2 \end{split}$$

Plugging in the above three facts to (7.6), we get that there exists a constant $C = C(n, \nu)$ such that

$$\|\nabla\rho\|_{L^2}^2 \gtrsim \zeta_n(Q)^2 \left[1 - CR^{-4(p-1)} - CL^{-1} - C\frac{L^{n-4}}{\log R}\right]$$

Now we choose $L = L(n, \nu)$ large and fix it. Using (7.3) and monotonicity of $\zeta_n(x)$, we have $\zeta_n(||f||_{H^{-1}}) \leq \zeta_n(Q)$. Taking R large enough, the proof is complete.

Proof of Theorem 1.5. According to Lemma 7.1, it suffices to show that

$$\inf_{\substack{z_1, z_2 \in \mathbb{R}^n \\ \lambda_1 > 0, \lambda_2 > 0}} \left\| \nabla \left(u - \sum_{j=1,2} U\left[z_j; \lambda_j \right] \right) \right\|_{L^2} \gtrsim \| \nabla \rho \|_{L^2}.$$

It is well-known that the minimization problem on the left-hand side can be attained (cf. [4], Lemma A.1) by some

$$\tilde{U}_1 := U[z_1; \lambda_1], \quad \tilde{U}_2 := U[z_2; \lambda_2].$$

Denote $\tilde{\sigma} = \tilde{U}_1 + \tilde{U}_2$ and $\tilde{\rho} = u - \tilde{\sigma}$. We need to show $\|\nabla \tilde{\rho}\|_{L^2} \gtrsim \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2}$. Since $\tilde{\sigma}$ is the minimizer, then

$$\|\nabla (u - \tilde{\sigma})\|_{L^2} \le \|\nabla (u - \sigma)\|_{L^2} = \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^2} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q).$$

Recall that $\langle v, w \rangle_{\dot{H}^1} = \int \nabla v \cdot \nabla w$. Hence $\|\sigma - \tilde{\sigma}\|_{\dot{H}^1} \lesssim \zeta_n(Q)$. This implies that (up to some reordering of z_1 and z_2)

$$\lambda_j = 1 + o_R(1), \quad z_1 = -(R + o_R(1))e_1, \quad z_2 = (R + o_R(1))e_1.$$
 (7.7)

Here $o_R(1)$ means a quantity that goes to 0 when $R \to \infty$. Denote

$$\varepsilon = \sum_{i=1,2} |\lambda_i - 1| + |z_i - (-1)^i Re_1|.$$

It is easy to see that $(z, \lambda) \to U[z, \lambda]$ is a smooth map from $\mathbb{R}^n \times (0, \infty)$ to $\dot{H}^1(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Using the Taylor expansion, there exist $A_1, A_2 \in \dot{H}^1$ and $||A_1||_{\dot{H}^1} = O(\varepsilon^2)$, $||A_2||_{\dot{H}^1} = O(\varepsilon^2)$ such that

$$\tilde{U}_1 - U_1 = \sum_{a=1}^n Z_1^a (z_1 + Re_1)_a + Z_1^{n+1} (\lambda_1 - 1) + A_1,$$

$$\tilde{U}_2 - U_2 = \sum_{a=1}^n Z_2^a (z_2 - Re_1)_a + Z_2^{n+1} (\lambda_2 - 1) + A_2,$$

where Z_1^a, Z_2^a are defined in (2.1) with respect to U_1 and U_2 . Consequently, $||U_1 - \tilde{U}_1||_{\dot{H}^1} \approx \varepsilon$, $||U_2 - \tilde{U}_2||_{\dot{H}^1} \approx \varepsilon$, and using Lemma A.5 we get

$$|\langle U_1 - \tilde{U}_1, U_2 - \tilde{U}_2 \rangle_{\dot{H}_1}| \approx o(\varepsilon^2) + \varepsilon^2 \sum_{a=1}^{n+1} |\langle Z_1^a, Z_2^a \rangle_{\dot{H}^1}| = o(\varepsilon^2).$$

Combining the above estimates, we have $\|\nabla(\sigma - \tilde{\sigma})\|_{L^2} \approx \varepsilon$ because

$$\begin{aligned} \|\nabla(\sigma - \tilde{\sigma})\|_{L^2}^2 &= \|\nabla(U_1 - \tilde{U}_1)\|_{L^2}^2 + \|\nabla(U_2 - \tilde{U}_2)\|_{L^2}^2 \\ &+ 2\langle U_1 - \tilde{U}_1, U_2 - \tilde{U}_2 \rangle_{\dot{H}_1}. \end{aligned}$$

By the orthogonality condition in (7.1), we have ρ is orthogonal to Z_1^a and Z_2^a in \dot{H}^1 for $a = 1, \dots, n+1$. Thus

$$\langle \sigma - \tilde{\sigma}, \rho \rangle_{\dot{H}^1} = \int \nabla (A_1 + A_2) \cdot \nabla \rho \lesssim o(1) \| \nabla (\sigma - \tilde{\sigma}) \|_{L^2} \| \nabla \rho \|_{L^2}.$$

Since $\tilde{\rho} = \rho + \sigma - \tilde{\sigma}$, the above inequality implies that

$$\begin{split} \|\nabla \tilde{\rho}\|_{L^{2}}^{2} &= \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\nabla (\sigma - \tilde{\sigma})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + 2\langle \sigma - \tilde{\sigma}, \rho \rangle_{\dot{H}^{1}} \\ &\gtrsim \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2} + \|\nabla (\sigma - \tilde{\sigma})\|_{L^{2}}^{2} \ge \|\nabla \rho\|_{L^{2}}^{2}. \end{split}$$

From this, the assertion follows.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

The research of L. Sun and J. Wei are partially supported by the National Key R&D Program of China (No. 2022YFA1005601, No. 2022YFA1005602, and No. 2022YFA1006800). J. Wei is also partially supported by NSERC of Canada. The research of B. Deng is also partially supported by China Postdoctoral Science Foundation No. 2022M722474 and NSFC No. 12071357.

APPENDIX A. SOME USEFUL ESTIMATES

This appendix contains some useful estimates involving Aubin-Talenti bubbles and their derivatives. We always denote $U_i = U[z_i, \lambda_i]$ defined in (1.3). See the definition of q_{ij} in (1.5). **Lemma A.1.** Let $\alpha > \beta > 1$ and $\alpha + \beta = 2^*$,

$$\int U_i^\beta \inf(U_i^\alpha, U_j^\alpha) = O(q_{ij}^{\frac{n}{n-2}} |\log q_{ij}|)$$

Proof. See the proof in [3, E4].

Lemma A.2. For any two bubbles, there exists C_n such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_i^p \lambda_j \partial_{\lambda_j} U_j = -C_n \left(q_{ij}^{-\frac{2}{n-2}} - 2\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j} \right) q_{ij}^{\frac{n}{n-2}} + O(q_{ij}^{\frac{n}{n-2}} |\log q_{ij}|).$$

Proof. See the proof in [3, F16]. Moreover, if $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$ then RHS $\approx -q_{ij}$ when $q_{ij} \ll 1.$

Lemma A.3. Given $n \ge 3$, for any fixed $\varepsilon > 0$ and any non-negative exponents such that $\alpha + \beta = 2^*$, it holds

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1^{\alpha} U_2^{\beta} \approx_{n,\varepsilon} \begin{cases} q_{12}^{\min(\alpha,\beta)} & \text{if } |\alpha-\beta| \ge \varepsilon, \\ q_{12}^{\frac{n}{n-2}} |\log q_{ij}| & \text{if } \alpha = \beta. \end{cases}$$

Proof. See the proof of proposition B.2 in [22].

Lemma A.4. Given $n \ge 6$, let $\{U_i\}_{i=1}^3$ be three bubbles with δ -interaction, that is $Q := \max\{q_{12}, q_{13}, q_{23}\} \leq \delta$ which is small enough.

(1) For n = 6, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1 U_2 U_3 \lesssim Q^{\frac{3}{2}} |\log Q|. \tag{A.1}$$

(2) For $n \geq 7$, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1^{p-1} U_2 U_3 \lesssim Q^{\frac{n-1}{n-2}} |\log Q|^{\frac{n-5}{n}}.$$
(A.2)

Proof. For $n = 6, 2^* = 3$, by the Hölder's inequality, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1 U_2 U_3 \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1^{\frac{3}{2}} U_2^{\frac{3}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1^{\frac{3}{2}} U_3^{\frac{3}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_2^{\frac{3}{2}} U_3^{\frac{3}{2}} \right)^{\frac{1}{3}}.$$

By Lemma A.3, we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1 U_2 U_3 \lesssim q_{12}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log q_{12}|^{\frac{1}{3}} q_{13}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log q_{13}|^{\frac{1}{3}} q_{23}^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log q_{23}|^{\frac{1}{3}}$$

Since the function $x^{\frac{1}{2}} |\log x|^{\frac{1}{3}}$ is increasing near 0, choosing δ small, we get (A.1). For $n \ge 7$, $2^* = \frac{2n}{n-2}$, let $\alpha = \frac{4n}{5(n-2)}$, $\beta = \frac{6n}{5(n-2)}$, $s_1 = \frac{5}{2n}$ and $s_2 = \frac{n-5}{n}$. By the Hölder's inequality and Lemma A.3, we get

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} U_1 U_2 U_3 \le \left(U_1^{\alpha} U_2^{\beta} \right)^{s_1} \left(U_1^{\alpha} U_3^{\beta} \right)^{s_1} \left(U_2^{\frac{2^*}{2}} U_3^{\frac{2^*}{2}} \right)^{s_2}$$
$$\lesssim q_{12}^{\frac{2}{n-2}} q_{13}^{\frac{2}{n-2}} q_{23}^{\frac{n-5}{n-2}} |\log q_{23}|^{\frac{n-5}{n}}.$$

Since the function $x^{\frac{n-5}{n-2}} |\log x|^{\frac{n-5}{n}}$ is increasing near 0, choosing δ small, we get (A.2).

Lemma A.5. For the Z_i^a defined in (2.1), there exist some constants $\gamma^a = \gamma^a(n) > 0$ such that

$$\int U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a Z_i^b = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } a \neq b, \\ \gamma^a & \text{if } 1 \le a = b \le n+1. \end{cases}$$

If $i \neq j$ and $1 \leq a, b \leq n + 1$, we have

$$\left| \int U_i^{p-1} Z_i^a Z_j^b \right| \lesssim q_{ij}.$$

Proof. See the proof in [3, F1-F6]. Moreover, it is known that $\gamma^1 = \cdots = \gamma^n$. \Box

Lemma A.6. Suppose $p \in (1, 2]$ and $a_i \ge 0$, then

$$\left(\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i\right)^p - \sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i^p \le \sum_{i< j} [(a_i + a_j)^p - a_i^p - a_j^p],$$

the equality holds when at most two of a_i are non-zero or p = 2.

Proof. It is equivalent to prove

$$f(a_1, a_2, \cdots, a_{\nu}) = \left(\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i\right)^p + (\nu - 2)\sum_{i=1}^{\nu} a_i^p - \sum_{i < j} (a_i + a_j)^p \le 0.$$

Denote $a_1 + a_2 = s$. Define $g(x) = f(x, s - x, a_3, \dots, a_{\nu})$. It is easy to see

$$\frac{g''(x)}{p(p-1)} = (\nu-2)[x^{p-2} + (s-x)^{p-2}] - \sum_{i=3}^{\nu} [(x+a_i)^{p-2} + (s-x+a_i)^{p-2}].$$

Since $p-2 \leq 0$ and $a_i \geq 0$, then $g''(x) \geq 0$ for $x \in [0, s]$. Since g(0) = g(s), we must have g achieve the maximum at x = 0 or s. Therefore $f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{\nu}) \leq f(0, a_1 + a_2, \dots, a_{\nu})$. Repeating the above process for any pairs, we obtain $f \leq 0$.

If the equality holds, that is, $f(a_1, a_2, \dots, a_{\nu}) = 0$, then the above proof shows that either x = 0 or s, or g(x) = g(0) = g(s) for $x \in [0, s]$. The first case implies at most one of a_1 and a_2 is non-zero. The second case implies g''(x) = 0 for $x \in [0, s]$. It leads to either $a_3 = \dots = a_{\nu} = 0$ or p = 2. Repeating this process for any pairs, one can get at most two a_i which are non-zero or p = 2.

Lemma A.7. Denote $\langle y \rangle = \sqrt{1+|y|^2}$. We have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |y-z|^{2-n} \langle z \rangle^{-\gamma} dz \lesssim \begin{cases} \langle y \rangle^{2-\gamma}, & \text{if } \gamma \in (2,n), \\ \langle y \rangle^{2-n} (1+\log\langle y \rangle), & \text{if } \gamma = n, \\ \langle y \rangle^{2-n}, & \text{if } \gamma > n, \end{cases}$$
(A.3)

Proof. This follows from a simple modification of the proof in [37, Lemma B.2]. \Box

APPENDIX B. INTEGRAL ESTIMATES REQUIRED IN SECTION 5

This appendix is devoted to computing the integral $\int VU_j$ in Lemma 5.2.

Recall that $U_j(x) = (n(n-2))^{(n-2)/4} \lambda_j^{(n-2)/2} \langle y_j \rangle^{2-n}$ where $y_j = \lambda_j (x-z_j)$. For $i \neq j$, see the definition of R_{ij} in (3.2). To compute integrals in this section, we split the involved integral domain into inner and outer parts where the integrand has a power-like behavior as in the Lemma 3.3.

Lemma B.1. Suppose $n \ge 6$ and $1 \ll R \le R_{ij}/2$, we have

$$\int_{|y_i| \le R} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{2-n}, \tag{B.1}$$

$$\int_{|y_i| \ge R} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2} R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{-n}, \tag{B.2}$$

$$\int_{|y_i| \le R} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2} R^{2-n}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{-n}, \tag{B.3}$$

$$\int_{|y_i| \ge R} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2} R^{-4}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{2-n}.$$
(B.4)

Proof. Recall that $y_i = \lambda_i (x - z_i)$ and $dy_i = \lambda_i^n dx$. (B.1) and (B.2) follow from direct computations. To prove (B.3), we consider the following two cases separately:

Case 1: $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_j$. Obviously, $R \leq \sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j}R_{ij}/2$. By (3.9) in Lemma 3.3,

$$R^{2-n} \int_{|y_i| \le R} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} dx \lesssim R^{2-n} R_{ij}^{2-n} \int_{|y_i| \le R} \frac{dy_i}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} \lesssim R^{-2} R_{ij}^{2-n} \lesssim R^{-n}.$$
(B.5)

Case 2: $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$. Let $\{|y_i| \leq R\} = \mathcal{D}_1 \cup \mathcal{D}_2$, where $\mathcal{D}_1 = \{|y_i| \leq R, |y_j| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$ and $\mathcal{D}_2 = \{|y_i| \leq R, |y_j| \geq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$. By (3.9) in Lemma 3.3 when $\tau = n - 2$,

$$R^{2-n} \int_{|y_i| \leq R} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^4} dx$$

$$\lesssim R^{2-n} \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^{(n-2)/2} \int_{\mathcal{D}_1} R_{ij}^{-4} \frac{dy_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} + R^{2-n} \int_{\mathcal{D}_2} R_{ij}^{2-n} \frac{dy_i}{\langle y_i \rangle^4}$$

$$\lesssim R^{2-n} R_{ij}^{-2} + R^{-2} R_{ij}^{2-n} \lesssim R^{-n}.$$
(B.6)

Combining with (B.5) and (B.6), we obtain (B.3).

To prove (B.4), as before, we consider the following two cases:

Case 1: $\lambda_i \geq \lambda_j$. Let $\{|y_i| \geq R\} = \mathcal{D}_1 \cup \mathcal{D}_2 \cup \mathcal{D}_3$, where $\mathcal{D}_1 = \{R \leq |y_i| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j}R_{ij}/2\}$, $\mathcal{D}_2 = \{|y_i| \geq \sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j}R_{ij}/2, |y_j| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$ and

 $\mathcal{D}_3 = \{|y_i| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_i/\lambda_j}R_{ij}/2, |y_j| \ge \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$. By (3.9) in Lemma 3.3, choosing $\tau = n - 2$ in \mathcal{D}_2 and $\tau = 0$ in \mathcal{D}_3 ,

$$R^{-4} \int_{|y_i| \ge R} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} dx \lesssim R^{-4} \int_{\mathcal{D}_1} R_{ij}^{2-n} \frac{dy_i}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} + R^{-4} R_{ij}^{2-n} \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^2 \int_{\mathcal{D}_2} \frac{dy_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} + R^{-4} \left(\frac{\lambda_j}{\lambda_i}\right)^{(n-6)/2} \int_{\mathcal{D}_3} \frac{dy_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^{2n-4}} \lesssim R^{-4} R_{ij}^{4-n}(\lambda_i/\lambda_j) \le R^{2-n}.$$
(B.7)

We have used the fact that $R_{ij}^{-2}(\lambda_i/\lambda_j) \leq 1$ in the last step.

Case 2: $\lambda_i \leq \lambda_j$. Let $\mathcal{D}_1 = \{|y_i| \geq R, |y_j| \leq \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$ and $\mathcal{D}_2 = \{|y_i| \geq R, |y_j| > \sqrt{\lambda_j/\lambda_i}R_{ij}/2\}$. By (3.9) in Lemma 3.3 when $\tau = 0$,

$$R^{-4} \int_{|y_i| \ge R} \frac{\lambda_j^{(n-2)/2}}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} \frac{\lambda_i^{(n+2)/2}}{\langle y_i \rangle^{n-2}} dx$$

$$\lesssim R^{-4} \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^2 \int_{\mathcal{D}_1} R_{ij}^{2-n} \frac{dy_j}{\langle y_j \rangle^{n-2}} + R^{-4} \left(\frac{\lambda_i}{\lambda_j}\right)^{(n-2)/2} \int_{\mathcal{D}_2} \frac{dy_i}{\langle y_i \rangle^{2n-4}}$$

$$\lesssim R^{-4} R_{ij}^{4-n} + R^{-n} \lesssim R^{-n}.$$
(B.8)

Combining with (B.7) and (B.8), we obtain (B.4).

REFERENCES

- [1] Thierry Aubin. Équations différentielles non linéaires et problème de Yamabe concernant la courbure scalaire. *J. Math. Pures et appl*, 55:269–296, 1976.
- [2] Mohamed Ben Ayed, Yansong Chen, Hichem Chtioui, and Mokhles Hammami. On the prescribed scalar curvature problem on 4-manifolds. *Duke Mathematical Journal*, 84(3):633–677, 1996.
- [3] Abbas Bahri. *Critical points at infinity in some variational problems*, volume 182. John Wiley & Sons, 1989.
- [4] Abbas Bahri and Jean-Michel Coron. On a nonlinear elliptic equation involving the critical Sobolev exponent: The effect of the topology of the domain. *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 41(3):253–294, 1988.
- [5] Abbas Bahri and Jean-Michel Coron. The scalar-curvature problem on the standard three-dimensional sphere. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 95(1): 106–172, 1991.
- [6] Gabriele Bianchi and Henrik Egnell. A note on the Sobolev inequality. *Journal of Functional Analysis*, 100(1):18–24, 1991.
- [7] Matteo Bonforte and Alessio Figalli. Sharp extinction rates for fast diffusion equations on generic bounded domains. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 74(4): 744–789, 2021.
- [8] Lorenzo Brasco, Guido De Philippis, and Bozhidar Velichkov. Faber-Krahn inequalities in sharp quantitative form. *Duke Math. J.*, 164(9):1777–1831, 2015.

- [9] Haim Brezis and Jean-Michel Coron. Convergence of solutions of h-systems or how to blow bubbles. *Archive for rational mechanics and analysis*, 89(1): 21–56, 1985.
- [10] Luis A. Caffarelli, Basilis Gidas, and Joel Spruck. Asymptotic symmetry and local behavior of semilinear elliptic equations with critical Sobolev growth. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 42(3):271–297, 1989.
- [11] Fabio Cavalletti, Francesco Maggi, and Andrea Mondino. Quantitative isoperimetry à la Levy-Gromov. *Comm. Pure Appl. Math.*, 72(8):1631–1677, 2019.
- [12] Sun-Yung Alice Chang and Paul C Yang. Prescribing Gaussian curvature on S². Acta Mathematica, 159:215–259, 1987.
- [13] Giulio Ciraolo, Alessio Figalli, and Francesco Maggi. A quantitative analysis of metrics on with almost constant positive scalar curvature, with applications to fast diffusion flows. *International Mathematics Research Notices*, 2018 (21):6780–6797, 2018.
- [14] Charles Collot, Frank Merle, and Pierre Raphaël. Dynamics near the ground state for the energy critical nonlinear heat equation in large dimensions. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 352:215–285, 2017.
- [15] Manuel del Pino and Mariel Sáez. On the extinction profile for solutions of $u_t = \Delta u^{(N-2)/(N+2)}$. Indiana Univ. Math. J., 50(1):611–628, 2001.
- [16] Manuel Del Pino, Jean Dolbeault, and Monica Musso. "Bubble-tower" radial solutions in the slightly supercritical Brezis-Nirenberg problem. J. Differential Equations, 193(2):280–306, 2003.
- [17] Manuel del Pino, Patricio Felmer, and Monica Musso. Two-bubble solutions in the super-critical Bahri-Coron's problem. *Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations*, 16(2):113–145, 2003.
- [18] Manuel del Pino, Monica Musso, Frank Pacard, and Angela Pistoia. Large energy entire solutions for the Yamabe equation. *J. Differential Equations*, 251(9):2568–2597, 2011.
- [19] Matias G. Delgadino, Francesco Maggi, Cornelia Mihaila, and Robin Neumayer. Bubbling with L^2 -almost constant mean curvature and an Alexandrovtype theorem for crystals. *Arch. Ration. Mech. Anal.*, 230(3):1131–1177, 2018.
- [20] Weiyue Ding. On a conformally invariant elliptic equation on \mathbb{R}^n . *Commun. Math. Phys*, 107:331–335, 1986.
- [21] Olivier Druet. From one bubble to several bubbles: the low-dimensional case. *J. Differential Geom.*, 63(3):399–473, 2003.
- [22] Alessio Figalli and Federico Glaudo. On the Sharp Stability of Critical Points of the Sobolev Inequality. *Archive for Rational Mechanics and Analysis*, 237 (1):201–258, 2020.
- [23] Alessio Figalli and Robin Neumayer. Gradient stability for the Sobolev inequality: the case $p \ge 2$. J. Eur. Math. Soc. (JEMS), 21(2):319–354, 2019.
- [24] Alessio Figalli and Yi Ru-Ya Zhang. Sharp gradient stability for the sobolev inequality. *Duke Mathematical Journal*, 171(12):2407–2459, 2022.

- [25] Nicola Fusco, Francesco Maggi, and Aldo Pratelli. The sharp quantitative isoperimetric inequality. *Ann. of Math.* (2), 168(3):941–980, 2008.
- [26] Basilis Gidas, Wei-Ming Ni, and Louis Nirenberg. Symmetry and related properties via the maximum principle. *Communications in Mathematical Physics*, 68(3):209–243, 1979.
- [27] Yanyan Li. Prescribing scalar curvature on sn and related problems, part i. *Journal of Differential Equations*, 120(2):319–410, 1995.
- [28] Francesco Maggi. Some methods for studying stability in isoperimetric type problems. Bull. Amer. Math. Soc. (N.S.), 45(3):367–408, 2008.
- [29] Andrea Malchiodi and Martin Mayer. Prescribing morse scalar curvatures: pinching and morse theory. *Communications on Pure and Applied Mathematics*, 76(2):406–450, 2023.
- [30] Monica Musso and Angela Pistoia. Tower of bubbles for almost critical problems in general domains. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 93(1):1–40, 2010.
- [31] Angela Pistoia and Jérôme Vétois. Sign-changing bubble towers for asymptotically critical elliptic equations on Riemannian manifolds. *J. Differential Equations*, 254(11):4245–4278, 2013.
- [32] Richard Schoen. Conformal deformation of a riemannian metric to constant scalar curvature. *Journal of Differential Geometry*, 20(2):479–495, 1984.
- [33] Joel Spruck and Liming Sun. Convexity of 2-convex translating solitons to the mean curvature flow in \mathbb{R}^{n+1} . *The Journal of Geometric Analysis*, 31: 4074–4091, 2021.
- [34] Michael Struwe. A global compactness result for elliptic boundary value problems involving limiting nonlinearities. *Mathematische Zeitschrift*, 187 (4):511–517, 1984.
- [35] Giorgio Talenti. Best constant in Sobolev inequality. Ann. Mat. Pura Appl. (4), 110:353–372, 1976.
- [36] Juncheng Wei and Shusen Yan. Arbitrary many boundary peak solutions for an elliptic Neumann problem with critical growth. J. Math. Pures Appl. (9), 88(4):350–378, 2007.
- [37] Juncheng Wei and Shusen Yan. Infinitely many solutions for the prescribed scalar curvature problem on \mathbb{S}^n . Journal of Functional Analysis, 258(9): 3048–3081, 2010.

School of Mathematics and Statistics, Wuhan University, Wuhan, Hubei Province, P.R. China, 430072

Email address: dbmath@whu.edu.cn

ACADEMY OF MATHEMATICS AND SYSTEMS SCIENCE, THE CHINESE ACADEMY OF SCIENCES, BEIJING 100190, CHINA.

Email address: lmsun@amss.ac.cn

DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, UNIVERSITY OF BRITISH COLUMBIA, VANCOUVER, BC V6T1Z2, CANADA

Email address: jcwei@math.ubc.ca